VIOLENCE AND PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES: A REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

by L'Institut Roeher Institute for the National Clearinghouse on Family Violence

Family Violence Prevention Division Health Canada August 1994 Prepared by Miriam Ticoll

Additional copies are available from:

National Clearinghouse on Family Violence Family Violence Prevention Division Health Programs and Services Branch Health Canada Ottawa, Ontario K1A 1B4 Tel.: (613) 957-2938 Fax: (613) 941-8930

or call the toll-free number, **1-800-267-1291**



*TDD toll-free number (*Telecommunication device for the Deaf), 1-800-561-5643 or (613) 952-6396

Également disponible en français sous le titre

La violence et les personnes ayant des incapacités analyse de la littérature

The views expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect those of Health Canada. Contents may not be commercially reproduced but any other reproduction, with acknowledgements, is encouraged.

© Ministry of Supply and Services Canada 1994

Cat. H72 - 21/123/1994E

ISBN: 0-662-22712-3

Table of Contents

	SUMMARY	v
1.	INTRODUCTION AND METHODOLOGY	1
2.	DEFINING VIOLENCE AGAINST PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES	3
3.	EXTENT OF THE PROBLEM	12
4.	WHERE VIOLENCE OCCURS	18
5.	FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO VIOLENCE	24
6.	EFFECTS OF VIOLENCE AND ABUSE	27
7.	DISCLOSURE	29
8.	PATTERNS OF RESPONSE	31
9.	PREVENTING VIOLENCE AGAINST PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES	39
10.	CONCLUSION	42
11.	BIBLIOGRAPHY	43

SUMMARY

People with disabilities — like other marginalized groups — are particularly vulnerable to violence and abuse. There is now a small but growing body of literature that addresses the particular issues faced by people with disabilities with respect to their experience of violence. This document is a review of that literature. The document analyzes how violence against people with disabilities is defined, the kinds of violence to which people with disabilities are subject, the contributing factors/causes of violence, the incidence of violence, issues relating to disclosure, and responses to violence and prevention issues.

Violence against people with disabilities has been characterized as:

- occurring in the context of systemic discrimination against people with disabilities in which there is often an imbalance of power, and
- including both overt and subtle forms of abuse which may or may not be considered to be criminal acts.

Although people with disabilities are susceptible to the same forms of violence as the population at large, the circumstances in which they find themselves may also make them more vulnerable to particular types of abuse. People with disabilities may be more likely to experience the following forms of abuse:

• **physical abuse,** which can include hitting, shaking, burning, the administration of poisonous substances or inappropriate drugs; inappropriate handling, personal or medical care; over-use of restraint or inappropriate behaviour modification, experimental treatment;

> **sexual abuse,** including unwanted or forced sexual contact, unwanted touching or displays of sexual parts, threats of harm or coercion in connection with sexual activity; denial of sexuality, denial of sexual education and information, forced abortion or sterilization;

psychological and emotional abuse, including the lack of

Violence and People with Disabilities

love and affection, verbal attacks, taunting, threats (of withdrawal of services or of institutionalization, for example), insults and harassment;

- **neglect and acts of omission,** including ignoring nutritional, medical or other physical needs, the withholding of the necessities of life, the failure to provide required medical care or appropriate educational services;
- **financial exploitation,** including the denial of access to, and control over, individuals' own funds and the misuse of their financial resources.

Problems have been noted by researchers with regard to obtaining accurate incidence statistics about violence and disability. Varying definitions of abuse and reporting rates, for example, make it difficult to measure the difference in risk faced by people with and without disabilities. However, there is an accumulation of independent findings which suggests that there is a problem of considerable magnitude.

Violence against people with disabilities occurs in a variety of settings, including the home and in service and institutional settings. In the family environment, it is suggested that there is a relationship between the lack of support for care-givers, their struggle with issues of systemic discrimination, and incidents of violence against dependents. In institutional or service settings, it is suggested that the large numbers of people involved in care, and the power imbalance between service providers and recipients of care, increase the risk of abuse to people with disabilities.

A number of psychological, cultural and social factors have been noted as contributing to a climate in which violence occurs. These general factors have an impact on the extent to which people with disabilities experience violence. In addition, several factors have been identified which may precipitate the exposure of people with disabilities to violence and abuse, including:

- negative public attitudes towards disability;
- social isolation of people with disabilities and their families;

Summary

- reliance of people with disabilities on others for care;
- lack of support for care-givers;
- lack of opportunity for people with disabilities to develop social skills through typical social interaction;
- nature of the disability;
- gender;
- poverty;
- lack of control or choice of people with disabilities over their personal affairs;
- perceived lack of credibility of people with disabilities when they report or disclose abuse;
- socialization of people with disabilities to be compliant;
- alcohol and drug abuse by perpetrators;
- ineffective safeguards.

Although there is a considerable volume of research examining the effects of violence in the population at large, relatively little research has been conducted focusing particularly on the effects of violence and abuse on people with disabilities. Most of the literature which does exists looks at the effects of sexual abuse.

The literature suggests that people with disabilities may be reluctant to report abuse for many of the same reasons that non-disabled children and women do not report abuse, including fear of retaliation, dependency and shame. A number of studies suggest that for children or adults with disabilities the difficulties of disclosing abuse are further compounded due to the situations they find themselves in because they are disabled. Some of the factors identified as influencing a person's decision to report or not to report abuse include:

Violence and People with Disabilities

- the significance the victim attaches to the incident;
- whether the individual has the physical means of communicating with others;
- whether the individual has or perceives there to be anyone to whom to report;
- the receptivity and perceived trustworthiness of the person to whom the victim discloses;
- the probability of being believed;
- the perceived consequences to the victim's and others' safety as a result of disclosure;
- whether the victim feels sympathy for a perpetrator;
- the perceived probability of receiving a just and efficient response to the complaint.

A number of issues emerge in the literature with respect to the nature of the responses of the various systems to acts of violence against people with disabilities, and how they can intervene more effectively. Some of the issues highlighted are summarized below:

- Service environments: It has been noted that the response patterns vary greatly within services and agencies, and even within the same agency. To a large extent, in the absence of effective and well-implemented protocols, the responses to abuse often depend on the attitudes, knowledge and stills of the individual staff person who comes into contact with the victimized person.
- Community support services: A number of studies indicate that there is limited access to community support services for people with disabilities who have been abused. However, there is an emerging recognition of the need to provide accessible and appropriate counselling services for

Summary

children and adults who have been sexually abused.

- Police: The literature suggests that the police may have certain attitudes towards persons with disabilities that may impede investigations. Interactive training of the police with face-to-face encounters with disability organizations, and inter-disciplinary training with social workers, advocacy groups, medical personnel and police officers, are required to improve police responsiveness to people with disabilities.
- Judicial system: The lack of physical and social access to the courts, rules of evidence, courtroom procedures that unfairly impinge on the rights of people with disabilities and the lack of willingness to make reasonable accommodation to individual differences were identified as barriers to be addressed by the judicial system.

The need for a multi-faceted approach to responding to and preventing the abuse of people with disabilities emerges repeatedly in the literature. Effective intervention requires the collaboration between systems, including the police, the judiciary, residential and support services, and community-based generic services.

A number of recommendations emerge from the literature regarding the prevention of violence against people with disabilities. They involve:

i. Systemic changes to eliminate the conditions that make it likely that people with disabilities will be subject to abuse, including:

- better access of persons with disabilities to the labour market so they are not so widely impoverished;
- more adequate levels of income support that would help reduce economic reliance on care-giver-perpetrators; disability-related support services that are more widely available, affordable, portable and subject to consumer control so that people with disabilities are not required to participate in delivery sites that may involve risks (e.g., sheltered workshops, group homes, special care homes,

multi-service institutions) in exchange for essential services;

- deinstitutionalization of people with disabilities and integration into the community;
- changing attitudes regarding disability, through public education;
- ensuring the availability of adequate supports to families.
- ii. Specific preventative measures within a variety of settings to make it less likely that people will be harmed, including:
- ensuring that people with disabilities know their rights and how to report abuse;
- clear definitions with respect to abuse and neglect, the requirement that reporting be made to the police or the child welfare authorities, that investigations happen quickly and that the safety of the individual from the perpetrator be ensured;
- sex education and clearer guidelines with respect to sexual activity within residential settings;
- assertiveness training and empowerment of people to resist abuse;
- the screening of new employees for past criminal records;
- risk assessment approaches used in child protection agencies that include the child's specific disability as a risk factor;
- education of service providers/professionals, on the relationship between abuse and disabilities, and on making appropriate referrals for children with disabilities;

Summary

• educating professionals who come into contact with children and adults with disabilities on the relationship between maltreatment and disabilities, on identifying possible abuse, and on making appropriate referrals.

iii. Measures to ensure effective responses to abuse when it happens, including:

- effective internal protocols in health, social service and educational settings for identifying, reporting and responding to victimization;
- reforms to the judicial system to ensure that people with disabilities have recourse to the courts;
- affordable, accessible counselling and other support for people with disabilities;
- strong advocacy support.

The literature suggests that there is an increasing recognition of the need to address the issue of violence against people with disabilities and that some progress has been made in terms of raising public awareness and developing more effective intervention strategies. However, much remains to be done to eliminate the systemic causes that create a climate in which the abuse of people with disabilities is tolerated, as well as to ensure that safeguards are in place and that systems and agencies work collaboratively to respond appropriately when violence occurs.

1. INTRODUCTION

i. Framing violence and disability

This document is a review of the literature pertaining to people with disabilities and violence. Through an examination of the literature it analyzes how violence against people with disabilities is defined, the kinds of violence to which people with disabilities are subject, the contributing factors/causes of violence, the incidence of violence, issues relating to disclosure and responses to violence, and prevention issues.

There is a large body of literature on violence. The literature includes philosophical examinations which attempt to explain the causes of violence, studies looking at the characteristics of perpetrators and victims for purposes of identification and treatment, case studies, personal accounts, statistical information, analysis of factors which contribute to violence and discussions of the effectiveness of the responses to violence.

Analyses of violence focus both on individual and on systemic issues. Much of the literature looks at violence resulting from the actions of individuals and examines the biological and environmental factors which contribute to understanding their actions. Some of the literature also analyzes the systemic inequities which contribute to violence. Feminist analyses, for example, point to institutional inequities and power imbalances as critical to understanding violence against women. In this review, an effort is made to focus both on the individual and systemic issues and the interaction between them with respect to how people with disabilities experience violence in their lives.

Whereas a considerable amount has been written about violence generally, the body of literature on violence and people with disabilities the particular focus of this review — is still relatively small. An effort was made to concentrate on material relating to violence and disability in the Canadian context. However, other sources were consulted, particularly in the United States and Great Britain.

ii. Methodology

Literature searches were conducted on several databases, including **Psych** Lit, Sociofile and Abstracts in Criminology and Penology.

The Psych Lit and Sociofile databases were searched by combining

all derivatives of the descriptors handicapped or disability and violence.

Additional searches on **Psych Lit** were conducted using the following descriptors: behaviour modification, aversion therapy, institutionalization, institutionalized mentally retarded, time out, nursing homes, residential care facilities, physical abuse, child abuse, elder abuse, emotional abuse, sexual abuse, patient abuse, physical restraint, child neglect, informed consent, quality of care, mental health services, mental health personnel, psychiatric hospitals, group homes.

Additional searches on **Sociofile** were conducted using the descriptors child abuse, sexual abuse and handicapped, human service organizations, group homes, hospitalization, access to employment, recreation, public transportation, sheltered workshops, community mental health, deinstitutionalization, abuse and mental patients, mental illness, mental health services, mental hospitals, justice, human rights, health services.

Abstracts in Criminology and Penology were examined with special regard for sections on special groups, psychopathology/psychiatry, penology, criminal procedures and the administration of justice, special offences and prevention. Some work was found with regard to psychiatric populations and elder abuse. Little was found relating to other kinds of disabilities.

Extensive use was made of the resources of l'Institut Roeher Institute's Information Services.

The bibliography appearing at the end of this document includes material specifically referred to in the literature review as well as a number of documents retrieved through the database searches which would likely be of interest to those concerned with the issue of violence and people with disabilities.

Where possible, the literature review focuses particularly on material pertaining to the Canadian context.

2. DEFINING VIOLENCE AGAINST PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

i. Issues in defining violence

This review looks specifically at the issue of violence as it affects people with disabilities. However, it is worth noting some of the ways in which violence is defined more generally and the implications of these definitions for understanding the particular ways in which people with disabilities experience violence.

A review of the literature reveals that violence has been defined in a variety of ways over the course of history. The way in which violence is defined depends both upon who is "doing the defining" and the social and historical context in which people are operating.

The legal-judicial system plays a significant role in terms of defining what constitutes violent crime. In Canada, under the **Criminal Code**, crimes of violence include murder, attempted murder, manslaughter, sexual assault, non-sexual assault, other sexual offences, abduction and robbery. Property crimes include breaking and entering, theft, possession of stolen goods and fraud.

Legal definitions not only reflect societal values, but also play a role in shaping public opinion. The impact of the legal definition of violent crime on public opinion is illustrated in comments by researchers who worked on a survey of violence against women recently conducted by Statistics Canada:

> In recent years, criticism has been directed toward survey research that defines "abuse" or "violence" against women more broadly than social consensus would allow. It was considered important in this survey to restrict measures of violence against women to **Criminal Code** definitions of assault or sexual assault in order to capture 'violence' as it is legally understood. There was a need to develop descriptions of violent acts that could be understood by a random sample of women across the country as reflective of their own personal experience and still be consistent with **Criminal Code** definitions. (Johnson and Rodgers, 1994)

However, it has also been noted that legal definitions of what constitutes criminal acts of violence tend to be somewhat narrower than other definitions of violence (Bourne, 1988).

In a survey conducted by the Native Family Violence Counselling and Community Service Training Program with members of seven home communities in 1988 about their understanding of family violence, respondents included not only wife battering, sexual abuse, child neglect and verbal and emotional abuse as forms of violence, but also residential school violence, spiritual abuse and addiction (Nadeau, 1990).

A proposed United Nations Declaration defines violence against women in terms that go beyond legal definitions of violence. It suggests that violence against women includes:

Any act of gender-based violence that results in, or is likely to result in, physical, sexual or psychological harm or suffering to women, including threats of such acts, coercion or arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether occurring in public or private life. (United Nations, 1993)

In their discussion of how to define violence against women, the authors of the final report of the Canadian Panel on Violence against Women stress that violence against women is socially structured — that all social institutions, from the family to the legal-judicial system, are characterized by unequal power relations between men and women. They suggest that each individual experience of violence must be seen in this larger social context (The Canadian Panel on Violence against Women, 1993).

The question of how violence is defined, and the need to situate acts of violence in a broader context, have also been raised in literature on violence and people with disabilities.

ii. Issues in defining violence against people with disabilities

In one study on violence and people with disabilities, research participants perceived violence against people with disabilities as including the range of acts that are widely considered by the public, the law and social policy

Defining Violence

as unacceptable ones against which all members of society should be safeguarded — in other words, acts proscribed under Canada's **Criminal Code**. However, various acts were identified during this research that are not widely construed by the public at large as forms of violence. These acts, it was noted, are ones to which persons with disabilities are particularly vulnerable and which people with disabilities are perhaps more likely than others to construe as acts of violence (The Roeher Institute, 1994).

How acts of violence are defined has a significant impact on how or whether victimization is perceived and reported. One author suggests that the victimization of people with disabilities is often classified as abuse and neglect rather than as crime (Luckasson, 1992). Luckasson notes that the specific acts that may occur — for example torturing and perhaps killing an individual, violating an individual's body, hitting, yelling, withholding food, subjecting someone to dangerously unsanitary living conditions, depriving an individual of necessary medical care — are similar, if not identical to, the acts that occur in what tend to be regarded as more serious crimes such as rape.

Another researcher comments that more subtle forms of violence or abuse affecting people with disabilities are often ignored or denied:

Over the past two years there has been an opportunity to witness countless abusive incidents. Many people would deny that these situations or scenarios could be called "abusive" and be deemed humiliating, degrading, oppressive or discriminatory due to the fact that they would feel their personal actions, their status or their corporate practices were being challenged or threatened. (Macfarlane, 1994)

What is of particular significance in these discussions is that violence against people with disabilities has been viewed as: (a) occurring in the context of systemic discrimination against people with disabilities in which there is often an imbalance of power, and (b) violence includes both overt and subtle forms of abuse which may or may not be considered criminal acts.

iii. Forms of violence perpetrated against people with disabilities

As noted above, the identification of the various forms of violence against people with disabilities depends to some degree on whether one includes systemic discrimination and other forms of abuse which are not necessarily criminal offences. As one researcher notes:

Definitions of abuse include physical, sexual and emotional abuse and neglect... Also, disabled people are discriminated against in their everyday lives — for example, by lack of appropriate services, lack of access to public facilities and many would view such discrimination as abusive itself. In order to set 'boundaries' for the current study, however, discrimination was viewed as a secondary form of abuse. (Westeott, 1993)

Another researcher, cautioning against the decriminalization of offences against people with disabilities, provides a "glossary of euphemisms used to decriminalize offences committed against people with disabilities". Like Luckasson above, he suggests that, for example, crimes such as rape, murder, assault, and battery are sometimes trivialized as "abuse" or "misconduct" (Sobsey, 1994).

Attempts have been made to identify the various forms of abuse, incorporating power differentials or systemic discrimination. For example, in a discussion paper on family violence against woman with disabilities, family violence was described as "physical, psychological or sexual maltreatment, abuse or neglect of a woman with disabilities by a relative or care-giver. It is a violation of trust and an abuse of power in a relationship where a woman should have the right to absolute safety. In many cases, it is also a crime" (Health and Welfare Canada, 1993a).

Another study defined violence broadly, in an effort to capture the scope and the various forms of violence experienced by people with disabilities. It suggested the following definition:

Violent acts against people with disabilities may involve any combination of

Defining Violence

- physical force (e.g., beating);
- physical actions that take the form of "care" (e.g., administration of medications or restraint);
- physical actions of a sexual nature e.g., rape or fondling);
- denial of rights, necessities, privileges or opportunities by persons who are in a position to promote or safeguard the individual's well-being;
- patterns of communication that may not involve physical contact but which are nonetheless perceived by victims as threatening (e.g., explicit threats or stalking), as tormenting (e.g., harassment), or as insulting (e.g., "speaking down" to or using derogatory terms when speaking to the individual);
- lack of proper action, such as neglect or the failure to respond effectively to incidents that have compromised the victim's well-being.

Typically, acts of violence against people with disabilities involve a power differential between the victim and the perpetrator for any of the following reasons:

- the victim depends on the perpetrator for physical, psychological or economic support or for other necessities;
- the victim lacks control over the actions of others who have the potential to invade, disrupt or negate well-being;
- the victim lacks status, credibility or "voice" in relation to persons or systems that are in a position to inflict, prevent or ameliorate harm (The Roeher Institute, 1994).

A number of broad categories of violence perpetrated against people with disabilities can be identified through the literature. These may or may not involve acts that are recognized as criminal acts of violence or abuse. These forms of violence are discussed below with particular reference to how people with disabilities may be at risk to them.

Physical abuse involves an individual being physically hurt, injured or killed. This includes hitting, shaking, squeezing, burning, biting, as well as the administration of poisonous substances, inappropriate drugs and alcohol, and attempted suffocation or drowning (The Roeher Institute, 1994; Sobsey, 1994; Westcott, 1993). It can also include inappropriate handling, inappropriate personal or medical care, over-use of restraint, and inappropriate behaviour modification (Health and Welfare Canada, 1993b). Certain therapies prescribed for people with disabilities, such as electroshock and aversive behaviour modification techniques, have been described as violent acts similar to torture (Weitz in Burstow and Weitz, 1988; Stainton in The Roeher Institute, 1988b).

Another form of physical abuse discussed in the literature and to which people with disabilities may be particularly susceptible is that of experimental treatment. Hudson, in Hanmer and Maynard (1987), discusses the lack of regulations underlying psychosurgery within the mental health field. The literature of personal accounts relates the damaging experiences of women who underwent physical and psychological experimental treatments. Examples include lobotomies and experiments in which electroshock, drugs and deep sleep were combined at the Allan Memorial Institute and which resulted in complete memory loss (Sager in Browne, Connors and Stern, 1985; Macdonald in Burstow and Weitz, 1988).

Sexual abuse includes any unwanted or forced sexual contact such as rape or forced oral sex; unwanted, touching or unwanted displays of sexual parts; threats of harm or coercion in connection with sexual activity (The Roeher Institute, 1993). For people with disabilities sexual abuse has also been identified as including the denial of sexuality, denial of sexual information/education, forced abortion or sterilization (Health and Welfare Canada, 1993a).

Sobsey notes that, although there are some areas of discrepancy, certain patterns are emerging with regard to the sexual abuse of people with disabilities:

Both children and adults with disabilities experience risk of sexual abuse. The abuse that these individuals experience is often chronic and severe. While they may be abused by many of the same perpetrators as other victims of sexual abuse (e.g., family members, neighbours, babysitters), they

Defining Violence

appear to experience additional risk from offenders with disabilities and care-givers with whom they come in contact through disability services. (Sobsey, 1994)

The literature also suggests that women with disabilities are likely to experience sexual abuse in their lifetime and that the rates of sexual abuse of males with disabilities are significantly higher than those of nondisabled males (Jacobson, 1989; Kohan et al., 1987; Ridington, 1989; The Roeher Institute, 1988c; Sobsey, 1994; Stimpson and Best, 1991; Sullivan, Vernon and Scanlan, 1987; Ticoll and Panitch, 1993). In the vast majority of cases, perpetrators are male and are known to the victim (Furey, 1989; The Roeher Institute, 1987; Sobsey, 1994).

Psychological and emotional abuse includes lack of love and affection, threats, verbal attacks, taunting and shouting which leads to the victim's loss of confidence and self-esteem (Westcott, 1993). Psychological abuse frequently accompanies other forms of abuse, but also occurs independently (Sobsey, 1994). Sobsey notes that while there is little research on the psychological abuse of people with disabilities, research studies have revealed the prevalence of negative and ambivalent attitudes towards people with disabilities, and that it can be assumed that psychological abuse is a particular concern for people with disabilities.

Recent research supports the view that threats, insults and harassment are constants in the lives of many people with disabilities (The Roeher Institute, 1994). Included in the range of threats cited by respondents are: threats by attendant care providers that they will withdraw their services, threats by social workers to persons labelled with intellectual or psychiatric disabilities that their children will be taken away; threats by family members that the individual will be institutionalized or reinstitutionalized if they do not comply. Insults and harassment to which people with disabilities may be subject include: verbal taunts from strangers on the street; being yelled and shouted at by neighbours; belittling, verbal onslaughts and lack of respect by care-givers; verbal and emotional abuse by boyfriends and husbands. According to one respondent in this study "the climate of insult is present all the time, everyday" (The Roeher Institute, 1994).

Psychological and emotional abuse can also be manifested in the internalization by people with disabilities of the attitudes of their caregivers and their families that they cannot look after themselves. Emotional dependency can be combined with economic and physical dependency, and threats of withdrawing support. This may lead an individual to be reluctant to reveal abuse or leave a situation where she or he may be experiencing physical and sexual abuse as well (The Canadian Panel on Violence against Women, 1993).

Neglect and acts of omission have been described as ignoring the nutritional, medical or other physical needs of people with disabilities (Williams, 1993). Neglect may be seen as "the intentional failure to provide, or the withholding of the necessities of life" (Ontario, Ministry of Citizenship, 1991), or "an act of omission, through ignorance or oversight" (Dubowitz and Egan, 1988). The failure to provide required medical care or appropriate educational services have also been identified as forms of neglect to which people with disabilities may be particularly susceptible (Sobsey, 1994).

The debate in the United States regarding the Baby Doe case of 1982 in which a newborn with Down syndrome was not given medical treatment on the grounds of poor expected quality of life and subsequently died, is illustrative of some of the issues pertaining to failure to provide medical care. Questions arose with respect to the civil rights of the child, who makes the decision whether or not to provide treatment, and on what grounds (Gerry, 1985; Gostin, 1985; Merrick, 1989; Nicolson et al., 1986; Rhoden and Arras, 1985; Rue, 1985). In the United States, failure to treat these infants is now viewed as neglect. Hospitals are advised to establish infant care review boards to guide decision making and the local child protection agencies are responsible for investigation (Dubowitz and Egan, 1988).

Financial exploitation includes the denial of access to, and control over, individuals' own funds and the misuse of their financial resources (The Canadian Panel on Violence against Women, 1993; Health and Welfare Canada, 1993a; The Roeher Institute, 1994).

The Panel on Violence against Women describes the experience of women with disabilities with respect to financial violence as follows:

Financial violence is often experienced by women with disabilities who may have to beg for money because they have been stripped of the dignity to control their own financial world. We heard of instances where women with disabilities lost their support or pay cheques to controlling family members, partners and "friends". We also were told of situations where women with disabilities were coerced

Defining Violence

into signing over control of their funds, sometimes in "exchange" for care. (The Canadian Panel on Violence against Women, 1993)

3. EXTENT OF THE PROBLEM

Problems have been noted by researchers with regard to obtaining accurate incidence statistics about violence and disability. Differences in definitions of abuse, reporting rates, contextual variables, and sampling strategies make it likely that no single figure will reliably express differences in risk between people with and without disabilities (Sobsey, 1994). Furthermore, even if one restricts the definition of abuse to criminal acts, it is difficult to obtain data. As one research study notes, national crime statistics provided by police departments to Statistics Canada concerning complaints, arrests and convictions have not been classified according to whether the victims have disabilities and so do not lend themselves to statistical analysis. In addition, few police departments have the means to systematically draw data from crime incident reports that might shed incidental light on the problem and few departments have set about to collect such data by other means (The Roeher Institute, 1994).

Many small-scale studies have reported that children with disabilities are more frequently abused than other children. There are, however, inconsistencies in the estimates of the extent of increased risk, along with a few studies that fail to demonstrate a relationship. This does leave some uncertainty about the nature and the magnitude of the relationship (Sobsey, 1994).

Nonetheless, as the table on the next pages demonstrates, there is an accumulation of independent findings strongly suggesting there is a problem of considerable magnitude.

EXTENT OF THE PROBLEM OF VIOLENCE AGAINST PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES

Level of Violence	WHO?	FORM OF VIOLENCE	SOURCE
40%	WOMEN WITH DISABILITIES	HAVE BEEN ASSAULTED,RAPE D OR ABUSED	STIMPSON and BEST, 1991
83%	"	WILL BE SEXUALLY ASSAULTED IN THEIR LIFETIME	11
54%	BOYS WHO ARE DEAF	HAVE BEEN SEXUALLY ABUSED	SULLIVAN, VERNON and SCANLAN, 1987
10%	BOYS WHO ARE HEARING	"	SULLIVAN, VERNON and SCANLAN, 1987
50%	GIRLS WHO ARE DEAF	11	11
25%	GIRLS WHO ARE HEARING	11	11
39-68%	GIRLS WITH DEVELOPMENTAL (INTELLECTUAL) DISABILITIES	WILL BE SEXUALLY ABUSED BEFORE 18 YEARS OF AGE	THE ROEHER INSTITUTE, 1988c
16-30%	BOYS WITH DEVELOPMENTAL (INTELLECTUAL) DISABILITIES	"	"
68%	PSYCHIATRIC OUTPATIENTS	HAVE BEEN VICTIMIZED BY PHYSICAL OR SEXUAL ASSAULT	JACOBSON, 1989
81%	PSYCHIATRIC INPATIENTS	"	JACOBSON and RICHARDSON, 1987

Level of Violence	WHO?	FORM OF VIOLENCE	SOURCE
56%	CLIENTS ADMITTED TO A HOSPITAL- BASED UNIT FOR PEOPLE WITH INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES	HAVE RECEIVED ANTI-PSYCHOTIC DRUG TREATMENT WITHOUT DIAGNOSIS OF PSYCHOSIS OR RELATED DISORDERS	HOEFKENS and ALLEN, 1990
39%	CHILDREN WITH MULTIPLE DISABILITIES ADMITTED TO A PSYCHIATRIC HOSPITAL	HAVE SUFFERED MALTREATMENT (MAINLY PHYSICAL ABUSE)	AMMERMAN, et al. 1989
40%	SEXUALLY ABUSED CHILDREN WITH MULTIPLE DISABILITIES ADMITTED TO A PSYCHIATRIC HOSPITAL	HAVE BEEN ABUSED BY MORE THAN ONE PERPETRATOR	"
16%	PRE-PUBERTY BOYS IN A PSYCHIATRIC INPATIENT SETTING	HAVE HISTORIES OF BEING SEXUALLY ABUSED	KOHAN, et al 1987
48%	PRE-PUBERTY GIRLS IN A PSYCHIATRIC INPATIENT SETTING	"	"
10%	CONSUMERS OF ATTENDANT CARE SERVICES	HAVE BEEN PHYSICALLY ABUSED	ULINCY et al., 1990
40%	"	HAVE ENCOUNTERED THEFT BY ATTENDANTS	"
71%	RESIDENTS OF A PSYCHIATRIC INSTITUTION	THREATENED WITH VIOLENCE WITHIN THE INSTITUTION	NIBERT et al., 1989
53%	"	ASSAULTED BY OTHER RESIDENTS	"

Level of Violence	WHO?	FORM OF VIOLENCE	SOURCE
39%	RESIDENTS OF A PSYCHIATRIC INSTITUTION	ASSAULTED BY STAFF	NIBERT et al., 1989
55%	"	SEXUALLY ASSAULTED BY OTHER RESIDENTS	"
27%	"	SEXUALLY ASSAULTED BY STAFF	"
29%	EVER-MARRIED FEMALES WITHOUT DISABILITIES	HAVE BEEN PHYSICALLY OR SEXUALLY ASSAULTED BY THEIR PARTNERS	STATISTICS CANADA, 1994
39%	EVER-MARRIED FEMALES WITH DISABILITIES	"	"
90%	INTERVIEWEES WITH PSYCHIATRIC DISABILITIES WHO HAVE EXPERIENCED VIOLENCE IN THE COMMUNITY	HAVE EXPERIENCED VERBAL/EMOTIONAL VIOLENCE	JIM WARD ASSOCIATES, 1993
74%	HAVE EXPERIENCED PHYSICAL VIOLENCE		"
38%		HAVE EXPERIENCED SEXUAL VIOLENCE	"
10%	NURSES AND AIDES IN NURSING AND INTERMEDIATE CARE FACILITIES WHO WERE INTERVIEWED	ADMITTED TO ENGAGING IN PHYSICAL ABUSE OF CLIENTS	PILLEMAR and MOORE, 1990
40%	"	ADMITTED TO ENGAGING IN PSYCHOLOGICAL ABUSE OF CLIENTS	"

A study examining the maltreatment of children with disabilities in the United States, based on data collected from 35 Child Protective Services agencies selected to be nationally representative, found that the incidence of maltreatment among children with disabilities was 1.7 times higher than the incidence of maltreatment of children without disabilities (Crosse, Kaye and Ratnofsky, 1993).

It has been suggested that people with disabilities may be less vulnerable to certain types of crime experienced more frequently by the population at large, and more vulnerable to other forms of violence. In a discussion of the victimization of adults with an intellectual disability, it was noted that in the U.K. about one-third of crime concerns cars and 95 per cent of the total recorded offences involve property (Williams, 1993). In Canada, 60 per cent of all Criminal Code offences known to the police were property crimes, while 10 per cent were crimes of violence. The remaining Criminal Code offences include mischief, bail violations, disturbing the peace, etc. (Statistics Canada, 1992). As Williams notes, people with intellectual disabilities rarely drive and usually own little more than personal effects. However, Williams (1993) cites the following as more typical incidents experienced by people with an intellectual disability: harassment in public places, verbal abuse, simple assault, murder, abduction by car, arson at a group home, sexual assault by a taxi driver.

A study by Ulicny et al. (1990) suggests that people with disabilities face elevated levels of physical assault and theft.

The cumulative results of a range of studies examining violence and people with disabilities suggest that the risk of only a single incident of abuse for people with disabilities appears to be at least one-and-a-half times as great as the risk for other people of similar age or gender (Sobsey, 1994).

However, since the forms of violence that have received attention in the research tend to conform to a definition of violence that coincides with the definition embedded in criminal law, the statistics do not reflect acts which people with disabilities might perceive as violent which are not criminal offences (The Roeher Institute, 1994). Some examples of violence not reflected in the statistics noted in The Roeher Institute study are:

• the ways in which "care" is distorted into acts of malevolence or acts which compromise physical or psychological well-being while retaining the outward form of "care";

- acts by means of which people with disabilities are denied family life (child apprehension and the pressure not to conceive);
- acts and circumstances that effectively compromise the economic security of people with disabilities.

4. WHERE VIOLENCE OCCURS

"Place" emerges as an important factor in discussions about violence in the population at large. Sacco and Johnson (1990) reveal how general incidents of violence change according to place. For example, 50 per cent of all assaults take place in a private residence while robberies were more frequent in public spaces (42 per cent) than in private homes (36 per cent). Participation in evening activities and alcohol consumption also increased the risk of violence. Newcomer and Stone (1985) also indicate that neighbourhoods and dwellings in which large groups of marginalized people are congregated due to poverty may leave individuals vulnerable to violence.

The literature identifies the following as places where violence may occur:

- social groupings such as the family, or some other personal relationship (Armstrong, 1983; Hanmer and Maynard, 1987; Health and Welfare Canada, 1988; Finkelhor and Yllo, 1988);
- residential settings such as homes, apartments, boarding homes (Newcomer and Stone, 1985; Sacco and Johnson, 1990);
- services settings such as hospitals, group homes, institutions (Groze, 1990; Mutchnick and Fawcett, 1990; Nibert et al., 1989);
- public spaces (Sacco and Johnson, 1990).

It has been noted that more than half of the abuse of people with disabilities is perpetrated by three groups of offenders:

- family members;
- paid care-givers;
- other people with disabilities, especially those clustered with their victims in services settings (Sobsey and Doe, 1991).

The literature pertaining to people with disabilities generally focuses primarily on family/care-giver violence and on violence occurring

in service and in residential settings. Sobsey notes, however, that in discussing these three groups as categories of abusers, it is important to recognize that the great majority of individuals in each group do not abuse others (Sobsey, 1994).

i. Family as a place of risk

In the literature on disability "family" is sometimes understood to include not only parents, husbands, boyfriends and other relatives, but to encompass friends, neighbours and care-givers. It has been suggested that the notion of family includes the range of people (paid and unpaid) upon whom individuals may often depend to provide them with assistance in carrying out their everyday lives. According to this definition, the family of a person with disabilities would include a range of service providers, such as attendants, interpreters, homemakers, drivers, doctors, nurses, teachers, social workers, psychiatrists, therapists, counsellors, and workers in hospitals and other institutions (Health and Welfare Canada, 1993a). The particular issues pertaining to paid care-giving and services are discussed in the section following this one.

Generic literature on violence identifies the family as a site where violence occurs, particularly against women and children:

- Information collected by the Badgley Committee through a National Population Survey found that about one-third of males and just over one-half of females surveyed reported that they had been the victims of at least one unwanted sexual act (Badgley, 1984).
- According to a recent Statistics Canada report, 29 per cent of ever-married females have been physically or sexually assaulted by their partners (Statistics Canada, 1994); this same study indicates that 39 per cent of ever-married females with disabilities have been physically or sexually assaulted by their partners (The Roeher Institute, 1994).
- It is estimated that between 75 and 90 per cent of the women in some northern Aboriginal communities are battered (The Canadian Panel on Violence against Women, 1993).

Where Violence Occurs

Families provide the first site of care for people who are dependent such as elderly people, children and people with disabilities. The literature suggests that there is a relationship between the lack of support for family care-givers, their struggle with systemic issues of discrimination, and incidents of violence against their dependents. The factors seen to affect the care-giving capacity of families include:

- isolation (which may be increased by the demands of caregiving);
- being overwhelmed by the demands of caretaking;
- lacking the opportunity to gain effective coping skills;
- individuals who are particularly difficult to care for;
- lack of respite;
- additional stresses such as unemployment;
- their own history which leads them to reproduce the violence they experienced;
- use of physical punishment as a form of discipline;
- substance abuse;
- negative social attitudes towards disability which may be lived out, or struggled with, in parents' reactions and attitudes.

(Fulmer, 1988; Gnaedinger, 1989; Groce, 1988; Rogers, 1990; Sobsey, 1994; Wachtel, 1989)

It has also been noted that it would be an error to stereotype all families that include a member with a disability as being high risk. Not all of these families suffer from isolation, excessive stress, etc., and each family and every family member is unique (Sobsey,1994).

ii. Services and institutional settings as places of risk

Whether or not one includes paid service providers in the definition of family, services have been identified clearly as a place of risk for people with disabilities (Berkman, 1984-86; Luckasson, 1992; The Roeher Institute, 1994; Sobsey, 1994; Stimpson and Best, 1991). Each of these studies provides examples of physical, sexual, psychological, and financial abuse of people with disabilities in service settings.

The large numbers of people involved, the intimate physical and emotional contact involved in the care they provide, and the power imbalance between the service provider and recipient of care are cited as factors which increase the risk of abuse to people with disabilities in service settings. These settings might be within the context of community or institutional care.

Much of the research and statistical data pertaining to violence against people with disabilities in services settings examines victimization in institutional or residential settings (including psychiatric hospitals and nursing homes). Sobsey notes that there is an extensive record of institutional abuse extending over the past two centuries, and provides numerous examples of institutional abuse in Canada, the United States, Australia, Romania, England and Wales (Sobsey, 1994).

The literature indicates a high incidence of physical and sexual assault on individuals with disabilities in psychiatric facilities, perpetrated by both fellow patients and by staff (Nibert et al., 1989; Pillemar and Moore, 1990). Nibert interviewed 58 residents of a psychiatric institution. Seventy-one per cent of the residents interviewed revealed they had been threatened with violence within the institution. Fifty-three per cent said they had been assaulted the most by other residents, while 39 per cent reported that staff members had assaulted them. Fifty-five per cent reported sexual assault by other residents and 27 per cent by staff. Jacobson and Richardson (1987) found that 81 per cent of psychiatric inpatients reported experiencing major physical and/or sexual assault. In terms of injuries to staff by residents, Carmel and Hunter (1989) found in a one-year study of a hospital that nursing staff sustained 16 injuries per 100 staff; 9.9 per cent of these incidents occurred while staff were containing violence, and 6.1 per cent were assaults.

The literature written by consumers describes their experience in psychiatric institutions as emotionally abusive/degrading. Kingston outlines how any attempt on her part to exercise personal choice left her open to judgements by staff of "inappropriate behaviour". This potentially left her vulnerable to treatments such as electroshock (Kingston in Burstow and Weitz, 1988). The restriction on wearing one's own clothes in favour of drab hospital pyjamas, as well as being confined to a ward, are also

Where Violence Occurs

described as dehumanizing by former psychiatric inmates (Burstow and Weitz, 1988).

Violence in nursing homes has been documented in the literature as well (Pillemar, 1988; Pillemar and Moore, 1990). These studies have focused primarily on violence perpetrated between residents and from care-giver to resident.

Pillemar and Moore (1990) conducted a study on the types of violence in nursing homes through interviews with 477 nurses and aides in 32 nursing and intermediate care facilities in the state of New Hampshire. Their findings indicated that 10 per cent of respondents admitted to engaging in physical abuse and 40 per cent to psychological abuse. Care-givers most frequently observed other staff abusing patients by over-restraint, pushing, yelling, and swearing. Furthermore, staff-patient conflict and level of staff burnout was most strongly related to the presence of physical abuse. Levels of burnout and patient aggression were most strongly related to the presence of psychological abuse.

Hoefkens and Allen (1990) found that 56 per cent of clients admitted to a hospital-based unit for people with "mental retardation and challenging behaviour" received anti-psychotic drugs although they did not have a diagnosis of psychosis or related disorders.

5. FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO VIOLENCE

Although place emerges as an important consideration in any discussion about violence, other factors have been identified in the literature that relate to violence or that increase the likelihood that violence will take place. Psychological, cultural and social factors have been noted as contributing to a climate in which violence may occur. In addition, specific factors which increase the vulnerability of people with disabilities to violence are also discussed in the literature.

i. General factors

The literature suggests that the existence of violence can be attributed to psychological, cultural and social factors which may interact with one another.

Psychological factors include unresolved childhood conflicts within individuals, or individual pathology or deviance (Edwards in Hanmer and Maynard, 1987).

Some of the cultural and social factors which are seen as contributing to violence and which have an impact on people with disabilities include:

- cultural, historical and social conditions which lead to the marginalization of certain groups which then become targets of violence for those with more power and control;
- cultural support for violence;
- the construction of private and public spheres which result in reduced community responsibility in areas of private ownership;
- social and economic stresses within the life of an individual such as poverty, unemployment, previous experiences of violence, drug and alcohol abuse that contribute to violence.

(Garbarino in Garbarino, Brookhouser and Authier, 1987; Straus, 1990; Young, 1990)

These general factors have an impact on the extent to which people with disabilities experience violence. In addition, a number of specific factors have been addressed in the research literature which may precipitate the exposure of people with disabilities to violence and abuse. Factors Contributing to Violence

ii. Specific factors which increase the vulnerability of people with disabilities

Researchers have identified a number of factors that can place people with disabilities at particular risk of abuse. In examining risk factors, several researchers have emphasized that it is not the disability itself that may put people with disabilities at risk, but the social conditions in which people with disabilities are likely to find themselves that makes it more likely that abuse will occur (The Roeher Institute, 1988b; Sobsey, 1994; Westcott, 1993).

A number of studies address in some detail the risk factors associated with sexual abuse and other forms of violence affecting people with disabilities, several of which are mentioned below. The Roeher Institute study (1994) discusses in depth the risk factors perceived by people with disabilities and others interviewed for its study on violence and people with disabilities. Stimpson and Best (1991) address the factors putting women with disabilities at risk of sexual abuse. Crossmaker (1991) looks at the factors placing people who have been institutionalized at risk of sexual abuse. Sobsey (1994) proposes an integrated ecological model of abuse in which the physical and psychological aspects of interacting individuals are considered within the context of environmental and cultural factors.

The main risk factors presented in the literature are:

- negative public attitudes about disability;
- social isolation of people with disabilities and their families;
- reliance of people with disabilities upon others for care;
- lack of support for care-givers;
- lack of opportunity for people with disabilities to develop social skills through typical social interaction;
- nature of disability;
- gender, particularly with reference to sexual abuse (where women face very high risk of victimization);

- poverty and other economic factors affecting people with disabilities;
- lack of control or choice of people with disabilities over their personal affairs;
- perceived lack of credibility of people with disabilities when they report or disclose abuse;
- socialization of people with disabilities to be compliant, and learned helplessness;
- alcohol and drug abuse by perpetrators;
- ineffective safeguards.

(Crossmaker, 1991; The McCreary Centre Society, 1993; The Roeher Institute, 1988a and b, 1994; Sobsey, 1994; Westcott, 1993)

6. EFFECTS OF VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

There is a considerable volume of research examining the effects of violence in the population at large. However, relatively little research has been conducted focusing particularly on the effects of violence and abuse on people with disabilities. Most of the literature which does exist looks at the effects of sexual abuse.

Westcott (1993), who interviewed a number of people with disabilities, suggests that "by far the most fundamental effect of being abused was for interviewees to experience great difficulties in forming relationships with people, particularly in developing trust".

In a discussion of sexual abuse in institutions, Crossmaker (1991) notes that the following have been identified as the effects of sexual abuse on the population at large:

- the diagnosis of mental illness or the label of developmental disability or mental retardation;
- social withdrawal;
- problems with identity formation, self-protection, intimate relationships and self-esteem;
- overly compliant behaviour;
- alienation and dissociation;
- isolation and problems with trust.

She notes that some of the devastating effects of sexual abuse, including alienation, dependency and powerlessness, are often similar to the effects of institutionalization.

The effects of sexual abuse on people with disabilities have also been discussed in the context of post-traumatic stress disorder (Cohen, 1993). Cohen notes that people with disabilities are often victims of sexual abuse by care-givers and health professionals, and that the abuse mirrors the trauma experienced by childhood victims of sexual abuse. He suggests that the betrayal of one who is dependent on another for survival represents a "monumental misuse of position of power". He also suggests that for people with disabilities the abuse may constitute a re-enactment of childhood trauma, given that such a large percentage of the population has been sexually abused prior to reaching adulthood.

Stimpson and Best (1991) identify the following effects of sexual

assault on women with disabilities:

- physical harm;
- alienation from self;
- alienation from others;
- fear and nightmares;
- anger and guilt;
- negative responses by others;
- revictimization (by repeated sexual assault or by people not believing or questioning the woman's credibility);
- harmful psychiatric and medical responses.

Flynn (1989) also indicates some of the outcomes of victimization of people with disabilities. She suggests that when people with disabilities are victimized:

- personal debts are significantly more likely to occur;
- people are unable to trust others and do not: or cannot take the necessary steps to form relationships;
- some people are too frightened to leave their homes;
- the quality of people's lives is lowered and restrictions are imposed upon them.

A survey conducted by DAWN Canada indicated that 59.7 per cent of the 391 women who responded to a national questionnaire about the relationship between suicide and abuse have contemplated suicide, and 28.4 per cent of those have attempted suicide (Meister, 1994).

7. **DISCLOSURE**

A number of issues are discussed in the literature with respect to the likelihood that people with disabilities will disclose abusive incidents and under what circumstances they are most likely to tell someone they have been abused.

It was noted that people with disabilities may be reluctant to report abuse for many of the same reasons that non-disabled children and women do not report abuse, including fear of retaliation, dependency, and shame (Ontario Women's Directorate, 1993; Westcott, 1993). These and other studies suggest that for children or adults with disabilities the difficulties of disclosing abuse are further compounded as a result of the situations people find themselves in because they are disabled.

The literature suggests that people with disabilities may:

- feel ashamed or feel that they are somehow to blame;
- fear retaliation from their abuser if they report;
- be afraid because they are unsure of the consequences of reporting (fear of losing privileges, removal to a morerestrictive ward of a unit, seclusion or restraints, increased medication, being labelled a problem, deportation, or removal of children);
- may be dependent financially, physically and emotionally on the person who abuses them, which can make it difficult to report the violence against them;
- may feel isolated and are unaware that many other people with disabilities have experienced violence;
- may be seen as attention-seeking, out of touch with reality, lying, manipulative or seeking revenge;
- may have difficulty "telling on" or challenging the actions of an able-bodied authority figure, given the compliance and obedience instilled in children who are disabled.

(Crossmaker, 1991; Ontario Women's Directorate, 1993; The Roeher Institute, 1994; Westcott, 1993)

The Roeher Institute, based on its interviews with people with disabilities, identified the following factors as influencing a person's decision to report or not to report abuse:

- the significance the victim attaches to the incident;
- whether the victim has the physical means of communicating with others;
- the victim's confidence and strength of purpose;
- the communication skills of the victim and of the respondents to the disclosure;
- whether the victim has or perceives there to be anyone to whom to report;
- the receptivity and perceived trustworthiness of the person to whom the victim discloses;
- the probability of being believed;
- the perceived consequences to the victim's and others' safety and well-being as a result of disclosure;
- whether the victim feels any sympathy for a perpetrator;
- the perceived probability of receiving a just and efficient response to the complaint.

8. PATTERNS OF RESPONSE

There is a considerable volume of literature which examines the ways in which society attempts to respond to violence. Responses occur through the legal and judicial systems on the one hand, and through service systems which provide protection, support, treatment and preventative education on the other hand (Bourne, 1988).

The need for a multi-faceted approach to responding to and preventing the abuse of people with disabilities emerges repeatedly in the literature. Wagner (1987) outlines the importance of a multi-disciplinary team to deal with child abuse which would include medical and legal professionals as well as police and social workers. Straus (1990) and Rogers (1990) suggest that effective responses require interdisciplinary, multifaceted approaches to address the underlying economic and social contributors to violence. Aiello (1984-86) outlines the importance of collaboration between all types of services in dealing with cases involving women with disabilities who have been sexually assaulted. The Roeher Institute (1992b) and Sobsey (1994) discuss the need for collaboration between various systems in order to respond effectively to abuse.

The following section reviews the literature on violence against people with disabilities with respect to specific issues pertaining to the responses of the police, the judicial system, service settings and community support services. It looks at some of the barriers to effective response in each of these areas, as well as recommendations to improve responsiveness emerging from the literature.

i. Responses in service environments

The literature suggests that there is a wide range of responses to the abuse of people with disabilities in residential and in other service settings.

It has been noted that the response patterns vary enormously within services and agencies — and even within the same agency. To a large extent, in the absence of effective and well-implemented protocols the responses to abuse often depend on the attitudes, knowledge and skills of the individual staff person who comes into contact with a person with a disability who has been victimized (The Roeher Institute, 1994).

Some of the literature suggests that institutional settings by definition may create a climate of abuse and an environment in which abuse will not be reported (Crossmaker, 1991; Sobsey, 1994).

Sobsey, for example, suggests that an abusive subculture often exists among staff in institutions and sometimes predominates:

Within such an abusive subculture, abuse is not viewed as either deviant or socially unacceptable. It is viewed as normal, and becomes expected of one socially, with peer pressure to encourage abuse... individuals who report on or otherwise attempt to thwart abuse become the targets of social outrage and administrative retaliation ... The subculture often intercepts any reports of abuse; thus, even when reported incidents clearly fit the criteria for mandatory reporting to outside agencies, studies suggest that 80 to 90 per cent never reach the proper authorities. (Sobsey, 1994)

In discussing responses to abuse within institutions, reporting procedures emerge as an important area in the literature. Rindfleisch and Bean (1988) discuss the factors which affect reporting by staff within institutions. The two most powerful factors included the type of incident and the commitment of the respondent to the resident. Other factors include: staff position; contextual factors regarding the incident such as other witnesses; severity of the incident; organizational support for reporting; and the individual's affiliation with residential care.

Sundram (1986) found that minor occurrences of abuse are often not reported because of the working conditions which contribute to the abuse occurring. Major occurrences of abuses are not reported due to administrative and disciplinary structures within institutions. Maibaum (1985) found that staff may hinder the efforts of patient advocates for fear of abuse being discovered or prosecuted.

Responses to the abuse of people with disabilities in the community or within community service settings also vary greatly. However, it has been noted that, for example, within housing and support services in the community, there are difficulties with responding to residents or parental complaints of neglect and abuse (The Roeher Institute, 1990, 1994). These difficulties include: the lack of national guidelines or standards regarding the provision of services; inadequate monitoring; and the lack of recourse available to victims of abuse or neglect.

ii. Access to community support services

The degree to which people with disabilities have access to crisis centres and transition homes in the community has also been addressed in the literature. The following comments about the access of women to

Patterns of Response

community services were made in the report from the Canadian Panel on Violence against Women:

Women with disabilities who find themselves suffering the aftermath of sexual assault or abuse often have nowhere to turn. Indeed, emergency shelters, rape crisis centres, sexual assault centres and counselling programs that are physically accessible to women with disabilities and which are experienced with their needs are still rare. These inadequacies are a direct result of funding shortages and a failure to account for the needs of women with disabilities ... It is important to acknowledge that some organizations have worked very hard to provide accessible services despite the lack of financial support from governments. Others are well aware of the specific issues of women with disabilities but are unable to do anything about them because of lack of funding. (The Canadian Panel on Violence against Women, 1993)

The lack of access to generic community-based support services is corroborated by a number of studies (Sobsey and Doe, 1991; Turk and Brown, 1993; Westcott, 1993).

In a discussion of the community service requirements for women with disabilities who have experienced violence, the following were noted as necessary to improve access to services:

Accessibility does not just mean physical access to services. Accessibility includes a broad range of issues such as, but not limited to: the provision of educational information in formats accessible to women who are blind or vision impaired, TDD service antipersonnel who are able to sign for women who are deaf or hearing impaired and more interpreters intervenor services and outreach to let women know that services are available. Women emphasized that their needs varied widely according to their particular disability. Therefore, women with hidden disabilities (e.g. epilepsy, chronic pain), women with multiple disabilities and women with developmental disabilities all have particular service requirements that need to be addressed. (Ontario, Women's Directorate, 1993) Although the literature suggests that there is limited access to community support services for people with disabilities who have been abused, there is a small and growing body of literature examining what constitutes appropriate support and counselling to people with a variety of types of disabilities. Most of this material focuses on treatment of children and adults who have been sexually abused. For example, Kennedy (1990) outlines how professionals need to consider the dual etiology of different responses to sexual abuse by deaf children; Sullivan et al. (1992) have conducted research on developing adapted sexual abuse treatment for children with disabilities; Albin (1992) and Wilgosh (1993) look at assessment and treatment issues for people with an intellectual disability who have been sexually abused; Fresco, Philbin and Peters (1993) explore the values of sexual assault support groups for women with developmental disabilities; Mansell and Sobsey (in Sobsey, 1994) discuss various counselling strategies for people with disabilities who have been abused.

iii. Police response

Although people with disabilities are likely to face elevated levels of risk for abuse, for a variety of reasons (many of which have been discussed above), many crimes never come to the attention of the police (Sobsey and Doe, 1991). A study conducted in Australia, for example, indicates that "40 per cent of crimes against people with mild and moderate mental retardation went unreported to the police, and 71 per cent of crimes against people with more severe mental retardation went unreported" (Wilson and Brewer, 1992, cited in Sobsey, 1994). A study conducted in Canada found that almost 75 per cent of sexual abuse cases were not reported (Sobsey and Varnhagen, 1988).

The literature highlights a number of barriers to bringing complaints to the police as well as obstacles to fair treatment of people with disabilities in the event that they do register a complaint. It has been noted that:

• Women with disabilities rarely encounter the police and when they do, they often have a negative experience making it unlikely that they would want to contact the police again (Masuda and Ridington, 1990; Ontario Women's Directorate, 1993; Stimpson and Best, 1991). Several authors suggest that many of the attitudes, stereotypes and myths about women with disabilities held

Patterns of Response

by the public at large are also prevalent among members of police forces (The Roeher Institute, 1993; Stimpson and Best, 1991).

- A perceived lack of credibility of women with disabilities acts as a barrier to reporting incidents of abuse to the police (The Canadian Panel on Violence against Women, 1993; Stimpson and Best, 1991).
- An absence of protocols relating to handling complaints concerning victims with disabilities suggests that the policing system as a whole cannot equitable respond to the complaints of victims with disabilities. It has been noted that a great deal is left to individual police knowledge about what steps to be taken and who to turn to for assistance (The Roeher Institute, 1993).
- Because they may have internal procedures in place for fielding complaints, abusive incidents occurring in group homes, institutions and other care-providing agencies may not come to the attention of the police. This has been noted to be the situation both by the police and those involved in social services. This may have the effect of decriminalizing acts of abuse against people with disabilities (The Roeher Institute, 1993).
 - The police are currently playing the role of the "gatekeepers" to justice, by exercising discretion to screen cases from coming to the attention of the courts. In effect the police are in a position to prevent the court and legal system from perceiving the need for reform of the judicial system to ensure justice for those who are most vulnerable to victimization (The Roeher Institute, 1993).

Groce (1988) notes that police need more accurate knowledge of what they can expect from someone with a specific disability. Sometimes insufficient understanding of tendencies within individuals or learned behaviours, may lead to exploitation. For example, in an examination of the literature, it was found that people with an intellectual disability are more likely to be self-incriminatory and less likely to deflect blame or construct an alibi in encounters with police (The Roeher Institute, 1992a). In a report on police training and family violence by the Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police, barriers to investigation were identified with respect to people with disabilities:

Certain victims may not be able to adequately communicate with investigators due to their particular disability others may be limited in mobility and may have difficulty in making court appearances. [and] ... Police officers ... may have certain attitudes towards persons with disabilities that may impede the investigation. This may be particularly acute with respect to persons with cognitive disabilities. (Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police, 1993)

In the report of the Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police it was recommended that to improve police responsiveness to people with disabilities police training include:

- interactive training of the police, with face-to-face encounters with various disability organizations;
- interdisciplinary training bringing together social workers, advocacy groups, medical personnel and police officers;
- computer-based information systems and computer-based training.

The Roeher Institute's report on police response to family and caregiver violence against people with disabilities also discusses police training as an important component of developing more effective responses. The report indicates a number of themes which officers interviewed for the study felt would be helpful to raise general awareness as well as to provide the practical information they feel they need to work more effectively with people with disabilities (The Roeher Institute, 1993).

iv. Response of the judicial system

A number of issues have been raised in the literature with respect to access to justice for people with disabilities who have experienced abuse. It has been suggested that people with disabilities remain one of the groups least well-served by the justice system (Sobsey, 1994). Barriers include the lack of physical and social access to the courts, rules of evidence, courtroom procedures that unfairly impinge on the rights of people with disabilities, and the lack of willingness to make reasonable accommodation to individual differences (The Roeher Institute, 1994; Sobsey, 1994).

In a survey of service providers in Ontario, respondents were asked to choose from a list the three most important areas of the justice system that need revision with respect to women with disabilities. The most important factor that emerged was the need to train judges, Crown attorneys and court personnel on meeting the needs of women with disabilities. Service providers also highlighted issues such as the accessibility of the court room, communication and assistance for women with disabilities. A significant number of service providers called for reexamination of the rules of evidence, contained in both the federal and provincial evidence acts, to see how they discriminate against people with disabilities in terms of giving evidence and in being believed (Ontario Women's Directorate, 1993).

In 1988 amendments (Bill C-15) were introduced to the Criminal Code of Canada and the Canada Evidence Act that either directly or indirectly affect complainants/witnesses who have communication disabilities in criminal proceedings. A study conducted in 1992 on the impact of this legislation on people with disabilities concluded that "Bill C-15 included some useful first steps towards more equitable treatment of victims/complainants, especially by removing the requirement that all adult witnesses must first demonstrate that they are capable of being sworn or making a solemn affirmation. This has opened the door to persons with communication disabilities, and resulted in a significant number of cases being prosecuted that would not have gone to court in the past because the key witnesses could not or would not have been permitted to testify" (The Roeher Institute, 1992a). This study suggests, however, that despite the reforms introduced by Bill C-15, the law continues to impose barriers to the participation of people with communication disabilities in the criminal justice process. The study concludes with ten recommendations, eight of which propose further amendments to the Criminal Code and the Canada **Evidence** Act.

In a discussion of the concerns particular to people with disabilities which may require considerations beyond the typical victim issues, Luckasson (1992) suggests a number of strategies to improve the response of the justice system to the issues of victimization of people with an intellectual disability, including:

- civil damage actions seeking large financial awards could be used for "routine abuse" such as verbal abuse, leaving the person in excrement, or failure to provide physical therapy;
- sentence enhancements could be implemented for the victimizers of people with disabilities;
- specialized victim assistance services could be provided;
- recruiting "disability advocates" to assist the police and the judicial system with these cases;
- alternative dispute resolution, such as non-court mediation, could be used in some cases in which people with disabilities are victims of crime;
- further research on victimization issues;
- inappropriate reliance on the "abuse and neglect" classifications should be reduced; the actual actions in individual cases could often be identified as more serious offences such as rape, homicide, and battery;
- policymakers should explore the possibility of special criminal statutes when victims have an intellectual disability;
- consideration be given to the possibility that the impact of victimization may be especially severe for persons with disabilities.

9. PREVENTING VIOLENCE AGAINST PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

The prevention of violence against people with disabilities is treated in various ways in the literature. Recommendations pertaining to prevention can be characterized as involving:

- systemic changes to eliminate the conditions that make it likely that people with disabilities will be subject to abuse;
- specific preventative measures within a variety of settings to make it less likely that people will be harmed or make them less vulnerable to abuse;
- measures to ensure effective responses to abuse when it happens.

The following is a summary of the recommendations that emerge from the literature regarding the prevention of violence against people with disabilities:

i. Systemic changes

A number of general societal reforms have been suggested in the literature to reduce the risk of victimization, including:

- better access of persons with disabilities to the labour market so they are not so widely impoverished;
- more adequate levels of income support that would help reduce economic reliance on care-giver perpetrators;
- disability-related support services that are more widely available, affordable, portable and subject to consumer control so that people with disabilities are not required to participate in delivery sites that may involve risks (e.g., sheltered workshops, group homes, special care homes, multi-service institutions) in exchange for essential services;
- deinstitutionalization of people with disabilities and integration into the community;

- changing attitudes regarding disability, through public education;
- ensuring the availability of adequate supports to families.

ii. Preventative measures within various settings

- Ensuring that people with disabilities know their rights and how to report abuse;
- clear definitions with respect to abuse and neglect, the requirement that reporting be made to the police or the child welfare authorities, that investigations happen quickly and that the safety of the individual from the perpetrator be ensured;
- sex education and clearer guidelines with respect to sexual activity within residential settings;
- assertiveness training and empowerment of people to resist abuse;
- the screening of new employees for past criminal records;
- risk assessment approaches used in child protection agencies that include the child's specific disability as a risk factor;
- education of service providers/professionals on the relationship between abuse and disabilities, and on making appropriate referrals for children with disabilities;
- educating professionals who come into contact with children and adults with disabilities on the relationship between maltreatment and disabilities, on identifying possible abuse, and on making appropriate referrals.

iii. Responding to incidences of abuse

- Effective internal protocols in health, social service and educational settings for identifying, reporting and responding to victimization;
- reforms to the judicial system to ensure that people with disabilities who have experienced abuse have recourse to the courts;
- affordable, accessible counselling and other supports for people with disabilities;
- strong advocacy support.

(Crosse, Kaye and Ratnofsky, 1993; Crossmaker, 1991; Docherty, 1989; Ombudsman of British Columbia, 1987; The Roeher Institute, 1988c, 1992b, 1994; Sobsey, 1994; Westcott, 1993; Whittaker, 1987)

10. CONCLUSION

The literature suggests that, while the degree of victimization of people with disabilities is unacceptably high, there is an increasing recognition of the problem and some indication that progress has been made in terms of raising public awareness and developing more effective intervention strategies. However, much remains to be done to eliminate the systemic causes that create a climate in which the abuse of people with disabilities is tolerated, as well as to ensure that safeguards are in place and that systems and agencies work collaboratively to respond appropriately when violence occurs.

11. BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abraham, C. (1989) "Supporting People with a Mental Handicap in the Community: A Social Psychological Perspective". **Disability, Handicap and Society**, 4, no. 2: 121-1310.

Aiello, D. (1984-86) "Issues and Concerns Confronting Disabled Assault Victims: Strategies for Treatment and Prevention". **Sexuality and Disability**, 7, no. 3/4 (Fall/Winter): 96-101.

Aiello, D., and Capkin, L. (1984) "Services for Disabled Victims: Elements and Standards". **Response** (Fall): 14-16.

Albin, J.B. (1992) "Sexual Abuse in Young Children with Developmental Disabilities: Assessment and Treatment Issues". Journal on Developmental Disabilities, 1, no. 1: 29-40.

Altman, B. (1981) "Studies of Attitudes towards the Handicapped: The Need for a New Direction". **Social Problems**, 28, no. 3 (February): 321-337.

American Association on Mental Deficiency. (1987) "The AAMD Position Statement on Aversive Therapy". **Mental Retardation**, 25, no. 2 (April): 118.

Ammerman, R.; Lubetsky, M.; Hersen, M.; Van Hasselt, V. (1988) "Maltreatment of Children and Adolescents with Multiple Handicaps: Five Case Examples". **Journal of the Multi-handicapped Person**, 1, no. 2 (June): 129-139.

Ammerman, R.; Van Hasselt, V.; Hersen, M. (1988) "Maltreatment of Handicapped Children: A Critical Review". **Journal of Family Violence**, 3, no. 1 (March): 53-72.

Ammerman, R.; Van Hasselt, V.; Hersen, M.; McGonigle, J.; et al. (1989) "Abuse and Neglect in Psychiatrically Hospitalized Multi-handicapped Children". **Child Abuse and Neglect**, 13, no. 3: 335-343.

Anderson, S., and Lauderdale, M. (1982) "Characteristics of Abusive Parents: A Look at Self-Esteem". **Child Abuse and Neglect**, 6, no. 3: 285-293.

Armstrong, L. (1983) **The Home Front: Notes from the Family War Zone**. New York, N.Y.: McGraw Hill Books.

Authier, K. (1987) "The Community Basis for Protecting Handicapped Children". **In Special Children, Special Risks**, edited by J. Garbarino, P. Brookhouser and K. Authier. New York, N.Y.: Aldine de Gruyter.

Badgley R.F. (1984) **Sexual Offences Against Children**. Ottawa, Ont.: Ministry of Supply and Services Canada.

Barbero, S. (1989) "Community-Based Day Treatment for Mentally Retarded Adults". **Social Work**, 34, no. 6 (November): 545-548.

Barile, M. (1989) "Sum and Parts of a Triple Whammy". **Compass**, no. 3: 12-14.

Barsh, E.; Moore, J.; and Hamerlynck, L. (1983) "The Foster Extended Family: A Support Network for Handicapped Foster Children". **Child Welfare**, 62, no. 4 (July/August): 349-359.

Benedict, M.; White, R.; Wulff, L.; Hall, B. (1990) "Reported Maltreatment in Children with Multiple Disabilities". **Child Abuse and Neglect**, 14, no. 2: 207-217.

Benefield, L., and Head, D. (1984) "Discrimination and Disabled Women". **Journal of Humanistic Education and Development**, 23, no. 2 (December): 60-68.

Berkman, A. (1984-86) "Professional Responsibility: Confronting Sexual Abuse of People with Disabilities". **Sexuality and Disability**, 7, no. 3/4 (Fall/Winter): 89-95.

Berkman, K.A., and Meyer, L.H. (1988) "Alternative Strategies and Multiple Outcomes in the Remediation of Severe Self Injury: Going 'All Out' Non-aversively". **Journal of the Association for Persons with Severe Handicaps**, 13, no. 2: 76-86.

Blackwell-Stratton, M.; Breslin, M.; Mayerson, A.; and Bailey, S. (1988) "Smashing Icons: Disabled Women and the Disability and Women's Movements". In **Women with Disabilities: Essays in Psychology, Culture and Politics**, edited by M. Fine and A. Asch. Philadelphia, Pa.: Temple University Press. Bogdan, R., and Taylor, S. (1989) "Relationships with Severely Disabled People: The Social Construction of Humanness". **Social Problems**, 36, no. 2 (April): 135-148.

Bourne, R. (1988) "The Treatment and Criminal Prosecution of Family Violence". In **Abuse and Victimization across the Life Span**, edited by M. Straus. Baltimore, Md.: John Hopkins University Press.

Bratter, T. (1990) "Uses and Abuses of Power: A View from the Top". **Residential Treatment for Children and Youth**, 8, no. 1: 61-78.

Brechin, A., and Swain, J. (1988) "Professional/Client Relationships: Creating a 'Working Alliance' with People with Learning Difficulties". **Disability, Handicap and Society**, 3, no. 3: 213-226.

Brooks, N. (1985) "Receiving Help: Management Strategies of the Handicapped". Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare, 5, no. 1 (January): 91-99.

Brouillette, M., and Paris, J. (1991) "The Dangerousness Criterion for Civil Commitment: The Problem and a Possible Solution". **Canadian Journal of Psychiatry**, 36, no. 4 (May): 285-289.

Browne, A. (1990) "Resisting Psychiatry". **Healthsharing**, (Spring): 17-21.

Browne, D. (1986) "The Role of Stress in the Commission of Subsequent Acts of Child Abuse and Neglect". **Journal of Family Violence**, 1, no. 4 (December): 289-297.

Browne, S.; Connors, D.; and Stern, N. (1985) With the Power of Each Breath. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Cleis Press.

Bullard, D.G., and Knight, S.E. (eds.) (1981) **Sexuality and Physical Disability: Personal Perspectives.** St. Louis, Mo.: C.V. Mosby.

Burstow, B., and Weitz, D. (eds.) (1988) Shrink Resistant: The Struggle against Psychiatry in Canada. Vancouver, B.C.: New Star Books.

Bush, M. (1980) "Institutions for Dependent and Neglected Children: Therapeutic Option or Last Resort?" American Journal of

Orthopsychiatry, 50, no. 2 (April): 239-255.

Byrd, K. (1989) "A Study of Depiction of Specific Characteristics of Characters with Disability in Film". Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counselling, 20, no. 2 (Summer): 43-45.

Camlin, L. (1982) "A Survey of State Efforts in Gathering Information on Child Abuse and Neglect in Handicapped Populations". **Child Abuse and Neglect**, 6, no. 4: 465-472.

Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police. (1993) Family Violence: Women, Children, Seniors an Persons with Disabilities: An Annotated Bibliography for Police. N.p.: Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police.

The Canadian Panel on Violence against Women. (1993) **Changing the Landscape: Ending Violence** — **Achieving Equality**. Ottawa, Ont.: Minister of Supply and Services Canada.

Canadian Women's Studies (1991). Violence against Women: Strategies for Change, 12, no. 1 (Fall).

Carmel, H., and Hunter, M. (1989) "Staff Injuries from Inpatient Violence". **Hospital and Community Psychiatry**, 40, no. 1: 41-46.

Caserta, M.; Connelly, R.; Lund, D.; and Poulton, J. (1987) "Older Adult Caregivers of Developmentally Disabled Household Members: Service Needs and Fulfilment". **Journal of Gerontological Social Work**, 10, no. 1/2 (January): 35-50.

Cash, T., and Valentine, D. (1987) "A Decade of Adult Protective Services: Case Characteristics". Journal of Gerontological Social Work, 10, no. 3/4:47-60.

Cercello, V. (1981) "Life in Between: Partially Sighted". **Off Our Backs**, 11, no. 5: 24-25.

Cerio, N. (1989) "Counselling Victims and Perpetrators of Campus Violence". **New Directions for Student Services**, no. 47 (Fall): 53-63.

Chandler, L., and Lubeck, R. (1989) "The Appropriateness and Utility of a Child-Focused View of Jeopardy: A Family-Focused Alternative". **Topics in Early Childhood Special Education**, 9, no. 2 (Summer): 101Violence and People with Disabilities

116.

The Coalition of Provincial Organizations of the Handicapped. (1988) **Dispelling the Myths: Sexuality and Disabled Persons**. Winnipeg, Man.: Coalition of Provincial Organizations of the Handicapped.

Cohen, M.V. (1993) "Editorial: Sexual Abuse and Post-traumatic Stress Disorder". **Sexuality and Disability**, 11, no. 4 (Winter): 255-257,

Cohen, N.; Miller, D.; and Hoffman, F. (1986) "Quality of Care for Youths in Group Homes". **Child Welfare**, 65, no. 5 (September/October): 481-494.

Cohen, S., and Warren, R. (1987) "Preliminary Survey of Family Abuse of Children Served by United Cerebral Palsy Centres". **Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology**, 29, no. 1 (February): 12-18.

Cole, S. (1984-86) "Facing the Challenges of Sexual Abuse in Persons with Disabilities". **Sexuality and Disability**, 7, no. 3/4 (Fall/Winter): 71-88.

Coles, W. (1990) "Sexual Abuse of Persons with Disabilities: A Law Enforcement Perspective. Special Issue: Sexual Abuse". **Developmental Disabilities Bulletin**, 18, no. 2: 35-43.

Conley, R.: Luckasson, R.; and Bouthilet, G.N. (1992) **The Criminal Justice System and Mental Retardation**. Baltimore, Md.: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

Corin, L. (1984-86) "Sexual Assault of the Disabled: A Survey of Human Service Providers". **Sexuality and Disability**, 7, no. 3/4 (Fall/Winter): 110-116.

Crosse, Scott B.; Kaye, E.; and Ratnofsky, A.C. (c1993) **A Report on the Maltreatment of Children with Disabilities**. Rockville, Md.: Westat, Inc.

Crossmaker, M. (1991) "Behind Locked Doors - Institutional Sexual Abuse". **Sexuality and Disability**, 9, no. 3: 201-219.

D'Aubin, A. (1987) **Disabled Women's Issues: A COPOH Discussion Paper**. Winnipeg, Man.: Coalition of Provincial Organizations of the Handicapped.

Deiner, P. (1987) "Systems of Care for Disabled Children and Family

Members: New Paradigms and Alternatives". Marriage and Family **Review**, 11, no. 1/2 (Fall/Winter : 193-21.

Docherty, J. (1989) **Investigating Child Abuse in Residential Care Settings**. Toronto, Ont.: James Docherty and Associates.

Doe, T. (1990) "Towards an Understanding: An Ecological Model of Abuse. Special Issue: Sexual Abuse". **Developmental Disabilities Bulletin**, 18, no. 2: 13-20.

Doucette, J. (1986) "The Future Is Now: Networking for Change". Report from the DisAbled Women's Network Ontario Networking Conference. Toronto, Ont.: DAWN.

Douglass, R. (1983) "Opportunities for Prevention of Domestic Neglect and Abuse of the Elderly". **Prevention in Human Services**, 3, no. 1 (Fall): 135-150.

Dubowitz, H., and Egan, H. (1988) "The Maltreatment of Infants". In **Abuse and Victimization across the Life Span**, edited by M. Straus. Baltimore, Md.: John Hopkins University Press.

Duker, P.; Boonekamp, J.; Ten-Brummelhuis, Y.; Hendrix, Y. et al. (1989) "Analysis of Ward Staff Initiatives towards Mentally Retarded Residents: Clues for Intervention". **Journal of Mental Deficiency Research**, 33, no. 1 (February): 55-67.

Dunst, C.; Cooper, C.; and Bolick, F. (1987) "Supporting Families of Handicapped Children". In **Special Children, Special Risks**, edited by J. Garbarino, P. Brookhouser and K. Authier. New York, N.Y.: Aldine de Gruyter.

Durand, M. (1990) "Reader Response: The 'Aversives' Debate Is Over: And Now the Work Begins". Journal of the Association for Persons with Severe Handicaps, 15, no. 3 (Fall): 140-141.

Eayrs, C.B., and Ellis, N. (1990) "Charity Advertising: For or against People with a Mental Handicap?" **British Journal of Social Psychology**, 29, pt. 4: 349-366.

Endicott, O. (1986) "Does Litigation Make a Difference?" **entourage**, 1, no. 4 (Autumn): 12-15.

Endicott, O. (1989) "The Right to Raise Children". **entourage**, 4, no. 4 (Autumn): 10.

Evans, E., and Murcott, A. (1990) "Community Care: Relationships and Control". **Disability, Handicap and Society**, 5, no. 2: 123.

Evans, J.; Hunter, A.G.; Thompson, D.R.; and Ramsay, S. (1985) "A Study of Institutionalized Mentally Retarded Patients in Manitoba: Overrepresentation by Canadian Indian Children". Journal of Mental **Deficiency Research**, 29, no. 2 (June): 153-164.

Feinmann, J. (1988) "Corridors of Fear". Nursing Times, 84, no. 39: 16 and 17.

Fifield, B. (1984-86) "Ethical Issues Related to Sexual Abuse of Disabled Persons". **Sexuality and Disability**, 7, no. 3/4 (Fall/ Winter): 102-110.

Fine, M., and Asch, A. (1988) "Disability beyond Stigma: Social Interaction, Discrimination and Activism". **Journal of Social Issues**, 44, no. 1 (Spring): 3-21.

Finkelhor, D., and Yllo, K. (1988) "Rape in Marriage". In **Abuse and** Victimization across the Life Span, edited by M. Straus. Baltimore, Md.: John Hopkins University Press.

Fischler, R. (1985) "Child Abuse and Neglect in American Indian Communities". Child Abuse and Neglect, 9, no. 1: 95-106.

Fletcher, F.; Marino, D.; and Everett, R. (1988) "News Coverage of Disabilities and Disabled Persons in the Canadian Media". Unpublished report prepared for the House of Commons Committee on the Status of Disabled Persons.

Fletcher, J.; Dommel, W.; and Cowell, D. (1985) "Consent to Research with Impaired Human Subjects". **Review of Human Subjects Research**, 7, no. 6 (November/December): 1-6.

Flynn, M.C. (1989) Independent Living for Adults with Mental Handicap: A Place of My Own. London: Cassell.

Foster, S. (1989) "Social Alienation and Peer Identification: A Study of the Social Construction of Deafness". **Human Organization**, 48, no. 3 (Fall): 226-235.

Fresco, F.; Philbin, L.; and Peters, K. (1993) "Sexual Assault Support Groups for Women With Developmental Disabilities". **Habilitative Mental Healthcare Newsletter**, 12, no. 6 (November/December): 98-103.

Fulmer, K.A. (1991) "The Effects of Family Violence on Children: Implications and Strategies for Canadian Educators". **Canadian Journal** of Special Education, 7, no. 2.

Fulmer, T. (1988) "Elder Abuse". In **Abuse and Victimization across the Life Span**, edited by M. Straus. Baltimore, Md.: John Hopkins University Press.

Furey, E. (1989) "Abuse of Persons with Mental Retardation: A Literature Review". **Behavioral Residential Treatment**, 4, no. 2 (April): 143-154.

Gallagher, J. (1976) "The Sacred and Profane Uses, of Labelling". **Mental Retardation**, 14, no. 6 (December): 3-7.

Garbarino, J. (1987) "The Abuse and Neglect of Special Children: An Introduction to the Issues". **In Special Children, Special Risks**, edited by J. Garbarino, P. Brookhouser and K. Authier. New York, N.Y.: Aldine de Gruyter.

Garbarino, J., and Authier, K. (1987) "The Role of the Educators". In **Special Children, Special Risks**, edited by J. Garbarino, P. Brookhouser and K. Authier. New York, N.Y.: Aldine de Gruyter.

Garbarino, J.; Brookhouser, P.E.; and Authier, K. (1987) **Special Children, Special Risks: The Maltreatment of Children with Disabilities**. New York, N.Y.: Aldine de Gruyter.

Gerry, M. (1985) "The Civil Rights of Handicapped Infants: An Oklahoma 'Experiment'". **Issues in Law and Medicine**, 1, no. 1 (July): 15-66.

Gilgun, J. (1988) "Decision-making in Interdisciplinary Treatment Teams". Child Abuse and Neglect, 12, no. 2: 231-239.

Ginsberg, L. (1988) "Shelter Issues in the 1990's: The Potential Roles of Adult Foster Care and Community Residential Facilities". Adult Foster Care Journal, 2, no. 4 (Winter): 260-272.

Gnaedinger, N. (1989) "Working Together, National Forum on Family Violence, June 18-21, 1989, Discussion Paper: Elder Abuse". Family Violence Prevention Division, Health and Welfare Canada.

Gondoff, E.W.; Mulrey, E.P.; and Lidz, C.W. (1991) "Psychiatric Admission of Family Violent vs. Non-Family Violent Patients". **International Journal of Law and Psychiatry**, 14, no. 3: 254.

Gonzalez-Yuen, N. (1989) "Alienation or Empowerment? Law and Strategies for Social Change". Law and Social Enquiry, 14, no. 3 (Summer): 551-579.

Gordon R.; Verdun, J.; and Simon, N. (1983) "The Right to Refuse Treatment: Commonwealth Developments and Issues". **International Journal of Law and Psychiatry**, 6, no. 1: 57-73.

Gostin, L. (1985) "A Moment in Human Development: Legal Protection, Ethical Standards and Social Policy on the Selective Non-Treatment of Handicapped Neonates". **American Journal of Law and Medicine**, 11, no. 1 (Spring): 31-78.

Gove, W.; Tovo, M.; and Hughes, M. (1985) "Involuntary Psychiatric Hospitalization: A Review of the Statutes Regulating the Social Control of the Mentally Ill". **Deviant Behaviour**, 6, no. 3: 287-318.

Gray, J.; Cutler, C.; Dean, J.; and Kempe, H. (1979) "Prediction and Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect". **Journal of Social Issues**, 35, no. 2 (Spring): 127-139.

Grindle, C. (1989) "Abuse and Neglect of American Indian Children: Findings for a Survey of Federal Providers". **American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research**, 3, no. 2 (Fall): 43-62. Groce, N. (1988) "Special Groups at Risk of Abuse: The Disabled". In **Abuse and Victimization across the Life Span**, edited by M. Straus. Baltimore, Md.: John Hopkins University Press.

Groze, V. (1990) "An Exploratory Investigation into Institutional Mistreatment. Special Issue: Evaluating Services for Youth". Children and Youth Services Review, 12, no. 3: 229-241.

Guess, D.; Helmstetter, H.; Turnbull III, H.R. and Knowlton, S. (1986) Use of Aversive Procedures with Persons Who Are Disabled: An Historical Review and Critical Analysis. Seattle, Wash.: Association for Persons with Severe Handicaps.

Guitner, A., and Joe, T. (1988) **Images of the Disabled, Disabling Images**. New York, N.Y.: Greenwood Press.

Hanmer, J., and Maynard, M. (1987) Women, Violence and Social Control. Atlantic Highlands, N.J.: Humanities Press International.

Hanna, W., and Rogovsky, B. (1991) "Women with Disabilities: Two Handicaps Plus". **Disability, Handicap and Society**, 6, no. 1: 49-63.

Harlow, P.; Morton, G.; and Wright, E. (1990) "Some Factors Related to the Use of Psychoactive Drugs, in an Institution for Adults with Mental Handicap". **Human Psychopharmacology - Clinical and Experimental**, 5, no. 1 (March): 33-39.

Harris, S.; Handleman, J.; Gill, M. and Fong, P. (1991) "Does Punishment Hurt? The Impact of Aversives on the Clinician". **Research in Developmental Disabilities**, 12, no. 1: 17-24.

Harrison, D. (1987) "Guidelines for the Use of Videotape in the Validation of Child Sex Abuse". **American Journal of Forensic Psychology**, 5, no. 3: 18-20.

Harrison, T. (1982) "Nowhere to Go: Even if There'd Been Room in a Shelter, None of Them Were Accessible". **Pandora**, 2, no. 1:7.

Health and Welfare Canada. (1988) **Child Sexual Abuse: 26 Literature Reviews and Special Projects**. Ottawa, Ont.: National Clearinghouse on Family Violence.

Health and Welfare Canada. (1993a) **Information from ... The National Clearinghouse on Family Violence: Family Violence against Women with Disabilities**. Ottawa, Ont.: Health and Welfare Canada.

Health and Welfare Canada. (1993b) **Information from ... The National Clearinghouse on Family Violence: Family Violence and People with a Mental Handicap**. Ottawa, Ont.: Health and Welfare Canada.

Helmstetter, E., and Durand, V.M. (1991) "Non-aversive Intervention for Severe Behaviour Problems". In **Critical Issues in the Lives of People with Severe Disabilities**, edited by L.H. Meyer, C.A. Peck, and L. Brown. Baltimore, Md.: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

Hennessey, E. (1989) "The Family, the Courts and Mental Health Professionals". **American Psychologist**, 44, no. 9 (September): 1223-1224.

Hepinstall, D. (1994) "Sexual Abuse justice Means Too Many Hurdles". **Community Living**, 7, no. 4 (April): 7-9.

Hewitt, S. (1987) "The Abuse of Deinstitutionalized Persons with Mental Handicaps". **Disability**, Handicap and Society, 2, no. 2: 127-135.

Hingsburger, D. (1990) i to I: Self Concept and People with Developmental Disabilities. Mountville, Pa.: VIDA Publishing.

Hoefkens, A., and Allen, D. (1990) "Evaluation of a Specialized Behaviour Unit for People with Mental Handicaps and Challenging Behaviour". Journal of Mental Deficiency Research, 34: 213-228.

Horner, B. (1993) Crime Prevention in Canada: Toward a National Strategy: Twelfth Report of the Standing Committee on Justice and the Solicitor General. Ottawa, Ont.: Queen's Printer for Canada.

Hopper, D. (1989) "Intellectually Handicapped Victims of Abuse: Doubly Victimized?" **Autism Society Canada**, 7, no. 4: 1-3.

Howerton, H. (1987) "The Role of the Federal Government". In **Special Children, Special Risks**, edited by J. Garbarino, P. Brookhouser and K. Authier. New York, N.Y.: Aldine de Gruyter.

Hudson, B. (1991) "Deinstitutionalization: What Went Wrong". **Disability**, **Handicap and Society**, 6, no. 1:21.

Jacobson, A. (1989) "Physical and Sexual Assault Histories among Psychiatric Outpatients". **American Journal of Psychiatry**, 146, no. 6: 755-758.

Jacobson, A., and Richardson, B. (1987) "Assault Experiences of 100 Psychiatric Inpatients: Evidence for the Need for Routine Inquiry". **American Journal of Psychiatry**, 144, no. 7: 908-913.

Jancar, J., and Johnston, S.J. (1990) "Incest and Mental Handicap". Journal of Mental Deficiency Research, 34: 483-490.

Jaudes, P., and Diamond, L. (1985) "The Handicapped Child and Child Abuse". **Child Abuse and Neglect**, 9, no. 3: 341-347.

Jim Ward Associates. (1993) Violence against People with Serious Mental Health Problems. Toronto, Ont.: Canada Mental Health Association.

Johnson, H., and Rodgers, K. (1994) "Measuring a Sensitive Issue: Canada's Survey on Violence against Women". **Perception**, 18, no. 1: 3-6.

Kalichman, S.; Craig, M.; and Follingstad, D. (1988) "Mental Health Professionals and Suspected Cases of Child Abuse: An Investigation of Factors Influencing Reporting". **Community Mental Health Journal**, 24, no. 1 (Spring): 43-51.

Kennedy, M. (1990) "The Deaf Child Who Is Sexually Abused Is There a Need for a Dual Specialist?" **Child Abuse Review**, 4, no. 2: 3-6.

Kent, D. (1988) "In Search of a Heroine: Images of Women with Disabilities in Fiction and Drama". In **Women with Disabilities: Essays in Psychology, Culture and Politics**, edited by M. Fine and A. Asch. Philadelphia, Pa.: Temple University Press.

Kinnon, D. (1988) **The Other Side of the Mountain. Working Together on Domestic Violence Issues. Phase 1, Summary of Findings and Conclusion**. Ottawa Ont.: National Clearinghouse on Family Violence, Health and Welfare Canada.

Kirkham, M., and Schinke, S. (1986) "Cognitive Behavioral Skills, Social Supports and Child Abuse Potential among Mothers of Handicapped Children". **Journal of Family Violence**, 1, no. 3 (September): 235-245.

Kohan, M.; Pothier, P.; and Norbeck, F. (1987) "Hospitalized Children with History of Sexual Abuse: Incidence and Care Issues". **American Journal of Orthopsychiatry**, 57, no. 2 (April): 258-264.

Kreigsman, K., and Bregman, S. (1989) "Women and Disability at Midlife. Special Issue: Transition and Disability over the Life Span". **Rehabilitation Counselling Bulletin**, 29, no. 2 (December): 112-122.

Krents, E.; Schulman, V.; and Brenner, S. (1987) "Child Abuse and the Disabled Child: Perspectives for Parents". **Volta-Review**, 89, no. 5 (September): 78-95.

Kroese, S., and Fleming, I. (1992) "Staff Attitudes and Working Conditions in Community-based Group Homes of People with Mental Handicaps". **Mental Handicap Research**, 5, no. 1: 82-91.

Krona, D. (1980) "Parents as Treatment Partners in Residential Care". Child Welfare, 59, no. 2 (February): 91-96.

Kutner, N. (1987) "Social Ties, Social Support and Perceived Health Status among Chronically Disabled People". Social Science and Medicine, 25, no. 1: 29-34.

Lang, R., and Kahn, J. (1986) "Teacher Estimates of Handicapped Students' Crime Victimization and Delinquency". Journal of Special Education, 20, no. 3 (Fall): 359-365.

Laufer, Z. (1985) "Institutional Placement: An Interim Stage or an End in Itself? The Role of Parents in the Continuum of Care". **Child and Youth Services**, 7, no. 3/4 (Summer): 33-50.

Lea, S.J. (1989) "The Relationship between Parents and Their Institutionalised Mentally Handicapped Child". **Social Work**, 25, no. 4 (October): 256-261.

Lerner, H., and Beagan, J. (1986) "Promoting Child Development for Hard-to-Reach, High-Risk Families". **Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing**, 9, no. 2: 97-106.

Lovaas O.I., and Favell, J.E. (1987) "Protection for Clients Undergoing Aversive/Restrictive Interventions". Education and Treatment of Children, 10: 311-325.

Lowenthal, B. (1989) "Early Childhood Educators and the Hospital Ethics Committee". **International Journal of Disability, Development and Education**, 36, no. 1: 29-38.

Luckasson, R. (1992) "People with Mental Retardation as Victims of Crime". In **The Criminal Justice System and Mental Retardation**, edited by R.W. Conley, R. Luckasson, and G.N. Bouthilet. Baltimore, Md.: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

Macfarlane, Ann. (1994) "Subtle Forms of Abuse and Their Long Term Effects". **Disability and Society**, 9, no. 1: 85-88.

MacLeod, L. (1987) **Battered But Not Beaten ... Preventing Wife Battering in Canada**. Ottawa: Canadian Advisory Council on the Status of Women; pp. 28,131.

Maibaum, M. (1985) "Staff Defensiveness and Legal Advocacy in a California State Hospital". **American Journal of Forensic Psychology**, 3, no. 1: 29-37.

Maluccio, A. (1979) "Problems and Issues in Community-based Residential Services as Alternatives to Institutionalization". **Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare**, 6, no. 2 (March): 198-210.

Marchetti, A., and McCartney, J. (1990) "Abuse of Persons with Mental Retardation: Characteristics of the Abused, the Abusers, and the Informers". **Mental Retardation**, 28, no. 6 (December): 367-371.

Margolis, H.; Shapiro, A.; and Brown, G. (1987) "Resolving Conflicts with Parents of Handicapped Children". **Urban Review**, 19, no. 4: 209-22 1.

Masuda, S. (1988) "\$22 M for Transition Houses - But Can We Use Them?" **Thriving**, newsletter of DAWN Canada, 1.

Masuda, S., and Ridington, J. (1990) Meeting Our Needs: Access Manual. for Transition Houses. Vancouver, B.C.: DAWN Canada.

Matson, J.L., and Taras, M.E. (1989) "A 20 Year Review of Punishment and Alternative Methods to Treat Problem Behaviours in Developmentally Delayed Persons". **Research in Developmental Disabilities**, 10: 85-104.

McArther, S. (1989) "Crime Risk Education Is Essential for the Disabled". **Rehabilitation Digest**, 19, no. 4: 20-21.

The McCreary Centre Society. (1993) **Sexual Abuse and Young People with Disabilities Project: Results and Recommendations**. Vancouver, B.C.: The McCreary Centre Society.

McGee, J.; Menolascino, F.; Hobbs, D.; and Menousck, P. (1987) Gentle Teaching; A Non-aversive Approach to Helping People with Mental Retardation. New York, N.Y.: Human Sciences Press Inc.

McPherson, C. (1987) "Vulnerable Victims of Assault". **Archtype**, Special Issue on Women, Disability and Law, 6, no. 4: 16-18.

McPherson, C. (1990) **Responding to the Abuse of People with Disabilities**. Toronto, Ont.: Advocacy Research Centre for the Handicapped.

Meister, J. (1994) "Safety Net/Work". Letter sent from DAWN Canada, June 10.

Melton, G. (1987) "Special Legal Problems in Protection of Handicapped Children from Parental Abuse". In **Special Children, Special Risks**, edited by J. Garbarino, P. Brookhouser and K. Authier. New York, N.Y.: Aldine de Gruyter.

Menard, J.P. (1989) "The Legal Framework for the Use of Aversive Therapies in Quebec Law". **Science et comportement**, 19, no. 2: 143-150.

Mental and Physical Disability Law Reporter. (1986) "Institutional Liability". **Mental and Physical Disability Law Reporter**, 10, no. 3 (May/June): 197-198.

Merrick, J. (1989) "Federal Intervention in the Treatment of Handicapped Newborns: Baby Doe Regulations and the 1984 Child Abuse Amendments". **Policy Studies Review**, 3, no. 2 (Winter): 405-419.

Modrocin, M. (1989) "Emotionally Handicapped Youth in Transition: Issues and Principles for Program Development". **Community Mental Health Journal**, 25, no. 3 (Fall): 219-227.

Moglia, R. (1986) "Sexual Abuse and Disability". **SIECUS Report**, (March): 9-10.

Moskop, J.; Saldanha, R.; and Weil, W. (1986) "The Baby Doe Rule: Still a Threat". **Hastings Centre Report**, 16, no. 2 (April): 8-14.

Mulick, J.A. (1990) "The Ideology and Science of Punishment in Mental Retardation". American Journal of Mental Retardation, 95, no. 2 (September): 142-156, 157-173.

Musick, J.L. (1984) "Patterns of Institutional Sexual Assault: Response to Violence". **The Family and Sexual Assault**, 7, no. 3: 1-2, 10-11.

Mutchnick, R., and Fawcett, M. (1990) "Violence in Juvenile Corrections: Correlates of Victimization in Group Homes". **International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology**, 34, no. 1 (April): 43-56.

Myers, K., and Dunner, D. (1984) "Self and Other Directed Violence on a Closed Acute-Care Ward". **Psychiatric Quarterly**, 56, no. 3: 178-188.

Nadeau, D. (1990) "The Native Family Violence Counselling and Community Service Training Program". The Native Education Centre, Health and Welfare Canada.

New Brunswick Association for Community Living. (1993) Family Violence and Disability Research Project. N.p.: New Brunswick Association for Community Living.

Newcomer, R., and Stone, R. (1985) "Board and Care Housing: Expansion and Improvement Needed". **Generations**, 9, no. 3 (Spring): 38-39.

Nibert, D.; Cooper, S.; and Crossmaker, M. (1989) "Assaults against Residents of a Psychiatric Institution: Residents' History of Abuse". **Journal of Interpersonal Violence**, 4, no. 3 (September): 342-349.

Nicholson, B.; Horowitz, R.; and Parry, J. (1986) "Model Procedures for Child Protective Service Agencies Responding to Reports of Withholding Medically Indicated Treatments from Disabled Infants with Lifethreatening Conditions". **Mental and Physical Disabilities Law Reporter**, 10, no. 3 (May/June): 221-249.

O'Brien, J. (1989) "Punishment for People with Developmental Disabilities". In **The Treatment of Severe Behaviour Disorders**, edited by E. Cipani. Washington, D.C.: American Association on Mental Retardation.

O'Brien, J. (1991) "Against Pain as a Tool in Professional Work on People with Severe Disabilities". **Disability, Handicap and Society**, 6, no. 2: 81-90.

O'Brien, J., and Repp, A.C. (1990) "Reinforcement-based Reductive Procedures: A Review of 20 Years of Their Use with Persons with Severe or Profound Mental Retardation". **Journal of the Association for Persons with Severe Handicaps**, 15: 148-159.

Odell, T. (1990) "It Is Time We Learned". Compass, 2, no. 4: 4-8.

Ombudsman of British Columbia. (1987) "The Use of Criminal Record Checks to Screen Individuals Working with Vulnerable People". Public Report 5. Victoria, B.C.: Queen's Printer for British Columbia.

Ontario, Ministry of Citizenship, Office of Disability Issues. (1990) **Statistical Profile of Disabled Persons in Ontario**, vol. 2.

Ontario, Ministry of Citizenship, Office for Seniors Issues. (1991) "A Review of Community/Program Responses to Elder Abuse in Ontario", (March).

Ontario Women's Directorate; Ontario Ministry of Community and. Social Services; and Ontario Office for Disability Issues. (1993) **Violence against Women with Disabilities: A Service Needs Assessment**. Toronto, Ont.: Ontario Women's Directorate.

Oshima, I., and Ueda, H. (1990) "Social Conflict between Institutions for the Disabled and the General Inhabitants: A Nationwide Distribution of the Conflict and Its Factors". **Journal of Mental Health**, 36: 101-112.

O'Sullivan, S.P., and Roberts, J.V. (1992) The Investigation of Child Abuse: An Inquiry into Training Needs of Police Officers and the Impact of Bill C-15, an Act to Amend the Criminal Code. N.p.: Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police.

Penfold, S. (1982) "Children of Battered Women". International Journal of Mental Health, 11, no. 1/2 (Spring/Summer): 108-114.

Petr, C., and Spano, R. (1990) "Evolution of Social Services for Children with Emotional Disorders". **Social Work**, 35, no. 3 (May): 228-234.

Picard, F. (1990) "Poverty and Mental Handicap". **entourage**, 5, no. 1 (Winter): 3-7.

Pillemar, K. (1988) "Maltreatment of Patients in Nursing Homes: Overview and Research Agenda". Journal of Health and Social Behaviour, 29, no. 3 (September): 227-238.

Pillemar, K., and Moore, D.W. (1990) "Highlights from a Study of Abuse of Patients in Nursing Homes". **Journal of Elder Abuse and Neglect**, 2: 1-2, 5-29.

Pinto, V.F. (1990) "The Sterilization of the Female Psychiatric Patient: Towards an Ethical Evaluation". **Servir**, 38, no. 4 (July/ August): 184-188.

Poteat, G.M.; Cope, J.; Choate, C.; and Grossnickle, W. (1989) "Wife Abuse as It Affects Work Behaviour in a Centre for Mentally Retarded Persons". **Journal of Clinical Psychology**, 45, no. 2 (March): 324-330.

Powell, H., and Hecimovic, A. (1985) "Baby Doe and the Search for a Quality Life". **Exceptional Children**, 513, no. 4 (January): 315-323.

Price, D.P. (1990) "Comparative Approaches to the Non-consensual Sterilization of the Mentally Retarded". **Medicine and Law**, 9, no. 3: 940-949.

Quine, L., and Pahl, J. (1985) "Examining the Causes of Stress in Families with Mentally Handicapped Children". **British Journal of Social Work**, 15: 501-517.

Rabb, J., and Rindfleisch, N. (1985) "A Study to Define and Assess Severity of Institutional Abuse/Neglect". **Child Abuse and Neglect**, 9, no. 2: 285-294.

Rancourt, J. 1986. "Le Handicap a-t-il un sexe?" La gazette des femmes, (juillet/août).

Repp, A., and Singh, N. (1990) **Perspectives on the Use of Nonaversive and Aversive Interventions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities**. Sycamore, Ill.: Sycamore Publishing.

Rhoden, N., and Arras, J. (1985) "Withholding Treatment from Baby Doe: From Discrimination to Child Abuse". **Milbank Memorial Fund Quarterly/ Health and Society**, 63, no. 1 (Winter): 18-51.

Ridington, J. (1989) "Beating the Odds: Violence and Women with Disabilities". Position Paper 2. Prepared for DAWN, March.

Rindfleisch, N., and Bean, G. (1988) "Willingness to Report Abuse and Neglect in Residential Facilities". **Child Abuse and Neglect**, 12, no. 4: 509-520.

Rinear, E.E. (1985) "Sexual Assault and the Handicapped Victim". In **Rape and Sexual Assault**, edited by A.W. Burgess. New York, N.Y.: Garland Publishing, pp. 139-145.

Rioux, M. (1991) "Exchanging Charity for Rights: A Challenge for the 1990s". **entourage**, 6, no. 2 (Spring): 3-5.

Rioux, M., and Yarmol, K. (1987) "The Right to Control Your Own Body: A Look at the 'Eve' Decision". **entourage**, 2, no. 1 (Winter): 26-31.

Rivet, M. (1990) "Sterilization and Medical Treatment of the Mentally Disabled: Some Legal and Ethical Reflections". **Medicine and Law**, 9, no. 5: 1150-1171.

Roberts, M. (1986) "Failure to Provide Psychosocial Services Is Institutional Abuse". **Children's Health Care**, 14, no. 3 (Winter): 132-133.

Robertson, G. (1987) Mental Disability and the Law in Canada. Toronto, Ont.: Carswell.

Robinson, C. (1987) "Key Issues for Social Workers Placing Children for Family Based Respite Care". **British Journal of Social Work**, 17, no. 3 (June): 257-283.

The Roeher Institute. (1988a) **Income Insecurity: The Disability Income System in Canada**. North York, Ont.: The Roeher Institute.

The Roeher Institute. (1988b) **The Language of Pain: Perspectives on Behaviour Management**. North York, Ont.: The Roeher Institute.

The Roeher Institute. (1988c) Vulnerable: Sexual Abuse and People with an Intellectual Handicap. North York, Ont.: The Roeher Institute.

The Roeher Institute. (1990) **Poor Places: Disability-related Housing and Support Services**. North York, Ont.: The Roeher Institute.

The Roeher Institute. (1992a) **The Impact of Bill C-15 on Persons with Communication Disabilities**. North York, Ont.: The Roeher Institute.

The Roeher Institute. (1992b) **No More Victims**. (4 vols.) North York, Ont.: The Roeher Institute.

The Roeher Institute. (1993) **Answering the Call: The Police Response to Family and Care-giver Violence against People with Disabilities**. North York, Ont.: The Roeher Institute.

The Roeher Institute. (1994) **Harm's Way: The Many Faces of Violence** and Abuse against People with Disabilities in Canada. North York Ont.: The Roeher Institute. In press.

Rogers, R. (1990) **Reaching for Solutions**. Report of the Special Advisor on Child Sexual Abuse to the Minister of National Health and Welfare. Ottawa, Ont.: Minister of Supply and Services Canada.

Rose, S.; Peabody, C.; and Stratigeas, B. (1991) "Responding to Hidden Abuse: A Role for Social Work in Reforming Mental Health Systems". **Social Work**, 36, no. 5 (September): 408-413.

Rosenthal, J.; Motz, J.; Edmonson, D.; and Groze, V. (1991) "A Descriptive Study of Abuse and Neglect in Out-of-Home Placement". Child Abuse and Neglect, 15, no. 3: 249-260.

Rousey, A.; Blacher, J.; and Hanneman, R. (1990) "Predictors of Out-of-Home Placement of Children with Severe Handicaps: A Cross-Sectional Analysis". **American Journal on Mental Retardation**, 94, no. 5 (March): 522-531.

Ruane, J.M., and Cerulo, K.A. (1990) "The Police and Community Mental Health Centres: The Transition from Penal to Therapeutic Control". Law and Policy, 12, no. 2: 137-154.

Rue, V. (1985) "Death by Design of Handicapped Newborns: The Family's Role and Response". **Issues in Law and Medicine**, 1, no. 3 (November): 201-225.

Sacco, V., and Johnson, H. (1990) "Violent Victimization". Canadian Social Trends, 17 (Summer): 10-13.

Sargent, J., and Liebman, R. (1985) "Childhood Chronic Illness: Issues for Psychotherapists". **Community Mental Health Journal**, 21, no. 4 (Winter): 294-311.

Schechter, S., and Gary, L. (1988) "A Framework for Understanding and Empowering Battered Women". In **Abuse and Victimization across the Life Span**, edited by M. Straus. Baltimore, Md.: John Hopkins University Press.

Schilling, R.; Kirkham, M.; and Schinke, S. (1986) "Do Child Protection Services Neglect Developmentally Disabled Children?" **Education and Training of the Mentally Retarded**, 21, no. 1 (March): 21-26.

Schmolka, V. (1992) Is Bill C-15 Working? An Overview of the Research on Effects of the 1988 Child Sexual Abuse Amendments. Ottawa, Ont.: Minister of Supply and Services Canada.

Shapiro, J., and Tittle, K. (1986) "Psychosocial Adjustment of Poor

Mexican Mothers of Disabled and Non-disabled Children". American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 56, no. 2 (April): 289-302.

Sharma, P.D. (1981-82) "Criminal Justice, Police and Weaker Sections of Society". **International Journal of Critical Sociology**, 5: 57-79.

Shybut, J. (1982) "Use of Paraprofessionals in Enhancing Mental Health Service Delivery in Rural Settings". Journal of Rural Community Psychology, 3, no. 1 (Spring): 59-62.

Singer, G.H., and Irvin, L. (eds.) (1989) **Support for Caregiving Families Enabling Positive Adaptation to Disability**. Baltimore, Md.: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

Singhi, P.; Goyal, L.; Pershad, D.; Singhi, S.; et al. (1990) "Psychosocial Problems in Families of Disabled Children". **British Journal of Medical Psychology**, 63, no. 2 (June): 173-182.

Sinick, D. (1981) "Disabling Stereotypes in Counselling". **International Journal for the Advancement of Counselling**, 4, no. 4: 251-267.

Sobsey, D. (1988a) "Non-aversive Behaviour Management: The Verdict Is In". Newsletter of the American Association on Mental Retardation 1, nos. 2 and 8.

Sobsey, D. (1988b) "Sexual Offenses and Disabled Victims: Research and Practical Implications". Vis-A-Vis: A National Newsletter on Family Violence, 6, no. 4 (Winter): 1-2.

Sobsey, D. (1994) Violence and Abuse in the Lives of People with Disabilities: The End of Silent Acceptance? Baltimore, Md.: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

Sobsey, D., and Doe, T. (1991) "Patterns of Sexual Abuse and Assault". **Journal of Sexuality and Disability**, 9, no. 3: 243-259.

Sobsey, D.; Gray, S.; Wells, D.; Pyper, D.; and Reimer-Heck, B. (1991) **Disability, Sexuality and Abuse: An Annotated Bibliography**. Baltimore, Md.: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

Sobsey, D., and Mansell, S. (1992) "The Prevention of Sexual Abuse of People with Developmental Disabilities". **Network**, 2, no. 2 (Winter): 8-15.

Sobsey, D., and Varnhagen, C. (1988) Sexual Abuse, Assault and Exploitation of People with Disabilities: A Study of Victims. Ottawa: Health and Welfare Canada.

Soder, M. (1990) "Prejudice or Ambivalence? Attitudes towards Persons with Disabilities". **Disability, Handicap and Society**, 5, no. 3: 227.

Starr, R.; et al. (1984) "The Contribution of Handicapping Conditions to Child Abuse". **Topics in Early Childhood Special Education**, 4, no. 1 (Spring): 55-69.

Statistics Canada. (1989) **Canadian Crime Statistics**. Ottawa, Ont.: Canadian Centre for Justice.

Statistics Canada. (1992) **Canadian Crime Statistics**. Ottawa, Ont.: Canadian Centre for Justice.

Statistics Canada. (1994) **Violence against Women Survey**. Ottawa, Ont.: Canadian Centre for Justice. (Special data request for The Roeher Institute).

Stimpson, L., and Best, M. (1991) Courage above All: Sexual Assault against Women with Disabilities. Toronto, Ont.: DAWN.

Straus, M.B. (ed.) (1988) **Abuse and Victimization across the Life Span**. Baltimore, Md.: John Hopkins University Press.

Sullivan, P., and Scanlan, J. (1987) "Therapeutic Issues". In **Special Children, Special Risks**, edited by J. Garbarino, P. Brookhouser and K. Authier. New York, N.Y.: Aldine de Gruyter.

Sullivan, P.M., Scanlan, J.M., Knutson, J.F., Brookhouser, P.E., and Schulte, L. (1992) "The Effects of Psychotherapy on Behavior Problems of Sexually Abused Deaf Children". **Child Abuse and Neglect**, 16, no. 2: 297-307.

Sullivan, P.M.; Vernon, M.; and Scanlan, J.M. (1987) "Sexual Abuse of Deaf Youth". **American Annals of the Deaf**, 32, no. 4: 256-262.